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DAY 01 – 17 February 2016 

 

  [10.01 am] 

 

HLC:   Well, good morning everyone and welcome to these hearings involving 5 

chapter 18 Open Space issues.  Before I introduce the Panel and invite 

the lawyers to enter their appearances, there is one matter arising from 

the earthquake on Sunday that I should mention. 

 

 As you can imagine the building has been checked out and you can be 10 

assured that it is safe.  Now, the warden who will control things in the 

event of an emergency is Liz White, who will stand, and Liz will be in 

total control in the event that there is an emergency.  You will find 

pamphlets around the room and I understand that the assembly place is 

the car park through which you entered. 15 

 

 Now, having disposed of that matter, could I introduce the board.  On 

my left is Jane Huria. 

 

MS HURIA:   Kia ora. 20 

 

HLC:   To my right Alec Neill and my far right Stephen Daysh and I am Lester 

Chisholm.  Now I would invite the lawyers to enter their appearances. 

 

MR LAING:   If the Panel pleases, Duncan Laing and Warren Bangma for the 25 

Council. 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Mr Laing and Mr Bangma. 

 

MS WHITE:   If the Panel pleases, Julia White for the Crown. 30 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Ms White. 

 

MS LIMMER:   May it please the Panel, Alanya Limmer for Fulton Hogan and 

Isaac Conservation and Wildlife Trust. 35 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Ms Limmer.  All right, now thank you very much. 

 

 Just two or three preliminary matters.  First as to disclosure of conflicts 

of interest, you may or may not be aware that each Panel member has 40 

made a disclosure and that is recorded on the website but I know at 

least one Panel member has a further disclosure to make.  Ms Huria, do 

you have any further disclosures to make? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 45 
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HLC:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, sir.  In relation to Canterbury Sport Limited I have 

noted that Lane Neave have filed documentation opposing the requests, 

I am a consultant solicitor with Lane Neave and accordingly I would 5 

recuse myself in respect to that matter.  Should Lane Neave appear in 

any other matter then I would do the same at that point in time. 

 

HLC:   Mr Daysh? 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   No, nothing further, sir. 

 

HLC:   All right, thank you very much, and if any person has any issues 

relating to those disclosures they can of course raise them with the 

Panel.   15 

 

 The next matter concerns the lead up to this hearing.  The Panel is very 

conscious that a lot of hard work has gone into narrowing issues, 

resolving issues in some cases, and we are extremely grateful to you all 

for the time and effort that you have devoted to that task and it is also 20 

appropriate that I should record the contribution which I understand has 

been major of Commissioner Mills. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 25 

 The third matter, ability to hear.  If at any stage you cannot hear please 

let us know.  I am afraid from my experiences lawyers and Panel 

members are not good at identifying the issue themselves so just let us 

know if you are having difficulty in hearing at any stage. 

 30 

 Now, Mr Laing, did the possibility that Mr Wright and Mr Dickson 

might be required this morning reach you? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, they are here, Chair, and if I can perhaps deal with some of 

these housekeeping matters in terms of timing, I don’t think I will need 35 

30 minutes to open; probably 15 would be more appropriate. 

 

 So we have got Mr Milne, Ms O’Brien, Mr Wright and Mr Dickson all 

available. 

 40 

HLC:   That is excellent. 

 

MR LAING:   So we may well get through that before 11.30? 

 

HLC:   Yes. 45 
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MR LAING:   If we can do we will do so they are all here and I don’t think 

there is any major issues with that evidence. 

 

HLC:   We are very grateful to you, thank you for doing that at short notice, 

and that will of course free up time this afternoon for matters to be 5 

heard. 

 

 And one further matter, the Panel has discussed the possibility of hot-

tubbing the planning experts in relation to the Yaldhurst Road issue and 

the planners are Ms Carter for the City Council, I think it is Ms Phillips 10 

for Canterbury Sports Limited and Mr Millar for the neighbours.  And 

we haven’t thought through the process at the moment but broadly 

what we have got in mind is that, subject to any issues that you might 

want to raise, we could separate that component of Ms Carter’s cross-

examination for a later time.  We are assuming that Ms Carter will be 15 

available throughout, so there will be no great inconvenience. 

 

MR LAING:   Ms Carter will be available throughout and I have got another 

peripheral issue that I will raise with the Panel in a moment about 

Ms Carter’s cross-examination once we have dealt with your piece, sir. 20 

 

HLC:   So if we separated out that component of Ms Carter’s evidence, we 

could slot it in with the evidence of Ms Phillips and Mr Millar so that 

they can all be cross-examined broadly at the same time and questioned 

by the Panel at the same time and, as sometimes happen, that may lead 25 

to resolution or narrowing of - - - 

 

MR LAING:   So that will be Monday, Chair. 

 

HLC:   Yes. 30 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, there is not a lot else on, on Monday really – and, in terms 

of the Rod Donald Banks Peninsula Trust where there broad cross-

examination on that so that really only leaves the Yaldhurst issues I 

think. 35 

 

HLC:   Yes.  Well, perhaps we will aim for Monday to do that.  Now, just off 

the top of your head and I know this has been landed right on you, do 

you see any issues? 

 40 

MR LAING:   I do not see any immediate issues, Chair, at all.  I think that it 

may well be the best way of dealing with some of those issues, I mean 

there are issues in principle, there are more minor issues about drafting 

and it is quite a complex – obviously the Panel already knows there is 

quite a complex byplay between the various planning witnesses and, 45 
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just to be quite frank, the Council would like to see a proper resolution 

of that. 

 

 It is not taking some sort of extraordinary sort of high ground there but 

there are obviously some scope issues so it is I think quite appropriate.  5 

But I will confer with Ms Carter but she will be here and I don’t see 

any reason why she will have any problems with that. 

 

HLC:   And the only person who is likely to be prejudiced is Ms Carter and 

you as counsel for the Council because as far as the other witnesses are 10 

concerned they are expecting to front anyway. 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, and Ms Carter will definitely be here the whole time 15 

anyway, so I do not see that as an issue really. 

 

HLC:   All right, thank you very much.  Now, you mentioned you had a matter 

- - - 

 20 

MR LAING:   Yes, are we over all the other housekeeping issues, Chair, or? 

 

HLC:   As far as I am concerned unless Panel members have got other matters.  

Yes, we are over our matters, thank you. 

 25 

MR LAING:  Yes, well, the next one I will mention is in a similar vein and 

even after I filed our opening legal submissions yesterday there has 

been further discussions with the Crown and it is now narrowed down 

to only really one outstanding issue, a revised-revised proposal was 

filed last night – and I will come to that a minute – but there is only one 30 

issue and that may well get resolved hopefully today or tomorrow. 

 

 So what I was going to propose, with Ms White’s agreement, is that 

Ms Carter’s cross-examination on that topic by the Crown is left over 

until Friday, so we will have her recalled. 35 

 

HLC:   And that, on the face of it, would only involve the Crown, could it 

potentially involve other parties as well? 

 

MR LAING:   I do not think so but Ms White? 40 

 

MS WHITE:   No, it would not. 

 

HLC:   And so, Ms White, you would have no objection to that course?  

 45 
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MS WHITE:   No, and I also note that two of our witnesses have been excused 

so that does actually give some time in the timetable for cross-

examination to be shifted over. 

 

HLC:   Okay, well, that is – now, are you all happy? 5 

 

MR NEILL:   Are we able to ask the issue that is still outstanding? 

 

MR LAING:   I will come to that in my legal submissions. 

 10 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   At one level it is quite simple, but it is to do with heritage but I 

will come to that in my – so that is just one housekeeping matter and 

certainly there is really only one outstanding issue with the Crown so 15 

that is going to be significantly a bridge anyway even if agreement is 

not reached but I expect it will be.  So that is really the first 

housekeeping issue I had.   

 

 Secondly, as I have already mentioned, there was a revised proposal 20 

filed with the Panel last night.  I am not certain whether the Panel has 

got it but I have got copies here. 

 

HLC:   Well, the Panel has received it but whether other people who are 

interested in the hearing have received it I am not sure.  Have other 25 

people who are attending received copies of that document?  It is the 

latest iteration of chapter 18 essentially, isn’t it? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, it is. 

 30 

HLC:   So perhaps if you put up your hand and Mr Laing could provide you or 

the staff could provide you with a copy. 

 

MR LAING:   I will put this down the back here. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   Mr Laing, this is the one with the pink additions, is that 

correct? 

 

MR LAING:   Sorry, the? 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   This is the one with the pink additions? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, I had better get a copy myself.   

 

MS HURIA:   And dated 16 Feb. 45 
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MR LAING:   It was filed after 5 o’clock last night.  If there is any doubt I can 

give you further copies, it has got 16 February 2016.  So do we have 

the right one? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, I think just so if you can confirm, there has been some 5 

recent amendments from the last version I saw in Ms Carter’s rebuttal 

and those are in pink as I understand it. 

 

MR LAING:   That is correct, yes. 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   We have the document. 

 

MR LAING:   Ms Carter will take you through those this afternoon.  So that is 

that matter.   

 15 

HLC:   Just before be leave that, are there many amendments in this latest one 

because I don’t know whether other Panel members are the same but I 

have gone through the one before and I don’t imagine - - - 

 

MR LAING:   They were fairly minor but there is amendments there to address 20 

some of the Crown’s submissions.  If I have one moment I will just - - - 

 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

  [10.15 am] 25 

 

MR LAING:   Mainly to do with the Crown and matters of discretion to 

resolve with those outstanding matter but I will get Ms Carter to 

highlight those matters for you later on. 

 30 

HLC:   Yes, that is excellent, thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   I am sorry there are so many proposals but we thought it 

appropriate to get a revised proposal given we are close with the Crown 

on things like that.  So that is that matter. 35 

 

 The next matter was Transpower, there is a memorandum been filed 

and agreement has been reached with Transpower on their outstanding 

issues.  I had anticipated that yesterday and there is nothing in my 

submissions about Transpower, I should have put in a note in to say 40 

that agreement was likely. 

 

 So on that basis I seek to leave to withdraw the Council’s cross-

examination notice against Ms McLeod.   

 45 
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HLC:   Yes, that is granted and I already signed I think a document earlier 

today to that effect. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes.  Just another matter on the same topic of cross-

examination, our revised notice where leave was given to either 5 

withdraw or amend does substantially lessen the number of open topics 

anyway. 

 

 And my final matter really was Hands off Hagley, they have filed 

another submission this morning.  I have only had a chance to read it 10 

very briefly.  I am not certain whether Ms Carter is going to have an 

opportunity to really be able to deal with that today but if not we will 

deal with it in closing. 

 

HLC:   Yes, and I think there is cross examination anticipated of Ms Carter by 15 

Hands on Hagley so we will see what develops - - - 

 

MR LAING.  That can just proceed in the normal way and - - - 

 

HLC:   - - - and if there is prejudice, well, you can be assured that time will be 20 

granted. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, Ms Carter will clearly have read this latest material but in 

terms of being able to analyse it and really comment on it her ability is 

going to be limited today, thank you. 25 

 

HLC:   Perhaps I am wrong. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, I think, sir, I was wrong too, they are not down to cross-

examine. 30 

 

HLC:   No cross-examination.  I think we will see how that evolves and there 

are obvious difficulties with material coming in at the last moment, and 

that is not a criticism of anyone it is just the way the process is 

working.  So we will see where we get to on that one, Mr Laing. 35 

 

MR LAING:   But just to be clear on that point, Ms Carter hasn’t prepared for 

any cross-examination. 

 

HLC:   No, sure. 40 

 

MR LAING:   Because it is not down on our list. 

 

HLC:   I probably caused a bit of a startle when I said there was cross-

examination. 45 
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MR LAING:   Yes, so that is fine, to the extent she is able to assist the Panel 

today on what Hands on Hagley is now saying she will do so. 

 

HLC:   Sure, thank you. 

 5 

MR LAING:   So if I can just turn to my legal submissions, I am not intending 

to read them but I will just go through and just summarise the position.  

I don’t need to deal with the introduction.  In section 2, starting on 

page 1, I highlight the legal issues and over the page at page 2 I deal 

with two issues about scope, and I will come back to them in more 10 

detail later on. 

 

 There is a general issue around the crossover between the Reserves 

Act, the other special legislation relating to Hagley Park and the RMA, 

and I address that in a general way at this stage because I am not 15 

entirely certain about the relevance of some of that but I have addressed 

it for the Panel and I will come back to that. 

 

 There is issue relating to the Elmwood Club and interpretation of 

community facility, although I do say that I don’t consider that is an 20 

essential issue for the Panel to address in terms of their submission and 

the Council’s response, and there is an issue relating to the Canterbury 

Sports Club Limited in terms of scope given high-order documents. 

 

  [10.20 am] 25 

 

 And then I come generally to the outstanding issues for the Panel’s 

consideration. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Sorry, could I just interrupt you just as you go through? 30 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   You made some comment on page 3, the very bottom of page 3 

about the Fulton Hogan position and the evidence of Mr Chrystal, and 35 

you talk about the fact that you what they are seeking for reasons given 

in the Rural chapter, which I have not quite yet read.  But can you 

summarise what those reasons are? 

 

MR LAING:   I prefer to leave that to Ms Carter, she is frankly more over that 40 

than I am. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 



 Page 285 

  

Ch18: Open Space Commenced 17.02.16 

MR LAING:   It is quite a complex issue to deal with a land swap which may 

or may not take place as I understand, but if I could ask Ms Carter to 

just deal with that when she starts on her highlights package.   

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Can I just go back on page 3, just to mention the other areas of 

contention, obviously Canterbury Sports Limited, the issue around the 

rezoning, and we have already discussed that this morning.   

 10 

 Elmwood Club; the issue of the appropriate zoning of their – the ban 

belonging to the bowling club, and potentially a access trip next door to 

it, and there is some detail there about the rules and whether they 

should be hard and fast standard relating to a restricted discretionary 

activity status, and then default to full discretionary. 15 

 

 And then there is Mr Daly’s late submission concerning 

38 Waipapa Avenue and the reasons why the Council does not support 

that submission given there. 

 20 

 And then we have the issue relating to Fulton Hogan, and as I say, I 

would prefer Ms Carter to deal with that. 

 

 Going over to page 4; the Isaac Trust, there has been quite a substantial 

of agreement about their submissions.  The only outstanding issue is 25 

the appropriate setback for fireworks from a major sport facility and 

there will be some cross-examination about that.  The competing range, 

as Mr Camp for the Council says two kilometres and Dr Trevathan says 

five kilometres so it is a very contained issue there. 

 30 

 And now I come to Hands on Hagley; they still seek in accordance to 

their document this morning, a special zone, that is opposed by the 

Council, the Council says that it is neither appropriate or necessary.  

The Council has, however, done some redrafting to try to accommodate 

some of the Hands on Hagley’s concerns and that is in that revised 35 

proposal that you have got now. 

 

 Turning to the Crown, my issue (d)(i) on the bottom of page 4 has been 

resolved and that drafting appears in the revised proposal, filed last 

night.   40 

 

 So the only outstanding issue is (ii) on page 5, and that I in relation to 

heritage buildings.  I am not going to spend time on that now because 

that issue may also get resolved by Friday as well.  But I do provide a 

brief explanation of that. 45 
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 3.3 at the bottom of page 5, I just deal with some crossover issues in 

terms of definitions, I do not think I need to dwell on that at this stage.  

Again, if the Panel has any doubt about that matter, I will ask 

Ms Carter to deal with that when she gives evidence. 

 5 

 Turning to page 6, I just record there that a number of memoranda have 

been filed and agreement and again, I just note that we should add now 

Transpower’s memoranda of last night to that list. 

 

  [10.25 am] 10 

 

 Going over to page 8, I summarise the proposal there in terms of what 

is attempted to be achieved, there is a major rationalisation of the 

number of open space zones into five, and you will see in 5.2 I have 

included a number of abbreviations. 15 

 

 So it is useful – as the day and the next few days progress, if you need a 

reference point for the definitions in the zones, there it is there, that 

encompasses the five zones; OCP, OMF, OMI, ON and OWM. 

 20 

 So I do not need to go through section 5, it is in Ms Carter’s evidence, 

she explains how the Council arrived at the five zones, the objectives 

for policies and obviously, in 5.7, has noted various changes that have 

been made to the proposal as a result of submissions. 

 25 

 I then turn briefly to the legal issues, I have already foreshadowed 

those, but I will now just go through those in slightly more detail. 

 

 As already mentioned, there are two issues as to scope and I have not 

repeated the legal submissions presented for the special purpose of 30 

Stage 2 hearing, but they are obviously on the Panel’s website and 

available to you. 

 

 Turning to the Isaac Wildlife and Conservation Trust, the experts for 

the Council and the Trust reached agreement at conferencing that noise 35 

from shooting ranges that have the potential to cause startle effects, 

would be harmful to birds and as a response, Ms Carter thought it 

appropriate that shooting ranges should be listed as a discretionary 

activity in the OMI zone where they are one kilometre of the Peacock 

Springs facility. 40 

 

 And then I go on to this talk about the scope of the Trust relief and in 

(d) on page 11, I say, in the Council’s submission, “It would not be 

clear to a member of the public reading the submission, that the Trust 

was seeking that controls be placed on a shooting range in the OMI 45 

zone.  At present these would otherwise be permitted.” 



 Page 287 

  

Ch18: Open Space Commenced 17.02.16 

 

 So although the merits are strong, in my submission, it is not possible 

within scope to deal with that matter at this hearing.  It would really 

need a revised proposal or a correction from the Panel to re-notify that 

and that is something the Panel may want to consider. 5 

 

HLC:   The reference to members of the public’s understanding arise from 

Palmerston North City Council v Motor Machinists Limited? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes; I can get a copy of that case for you if you want. 10 

 

HLC:   Well for my part that would be very helpful, thank you.   

 

MR NEILL:   Can I ask Mr Chair, just in regard to that issue, what effect if 

any, does it have in respect to CIAL in regard to their bird strike 15 

shooting because they are within a kilometre of the – I realise that you 

are not supporting that part, but is that not as equally an issue as some 

gun club?  

 

MR LAING:   It is certainly all part and parcel of the same issues – and that is 20 

one of the reasons behind this as to why I feel constrained to say to you 

I do not think that there is scope, because there is impact on other 

parties, including the airport potentially. 

 

MR NEILL:   Well perhaps, just so that no-one is taken by surprise, that issue I 25 

will raise with Ms Carter or the appropriate person from CCC and also 

with parties from the Trust when they appear, just so that you are 

aware. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, thank you, Ms Carter will obviously have noted that.  But 30 

that is part and parcel of the reason why I was very cautious about the 

scope issue here because it does impact on other parties. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Mr Laing, just one supplementary on that, the Panel does have 

some powers under clause 13(ii) of the Order in Council to consider 35 

findings which in certain circumstances; is this a potential area that we 

should be looking at under that special clause?  

 

MR LAING:   Commissioner, my initial reaction is that it did not fit well, but 

certainly I will make a note to deal with that further in closing in due 40 

course. 

 

MR DAYSH:   That would be helpful. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   We are somewhat constrained but there is a special power 

there, it would be worth just testing, I think. 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 5 

MR LAING:   Yes, my initial view was it did not fit easily within that but 

certainly I would be very happy to return to that in closing. 

 

 So, that is the first sort of scope issue.  The second one relates to 

Mr Govan’s submission, and the issues – I have explained the 10 

background to the issue as best I can do briefly in paragraphs 6.7 and 

6.8 – the issue became complicated, because the Council was 

negotiating to buy this land and it has now actually purchased that land 

so the land became zoned commercial core, that involved the stage one 

hearings.   15 

 

 Mr Govan’s submission seeks to re-litigate that issue and Council is 

very supportive of that but I thought I should at least draw this issue to 

your attention.  Again, in terms of impact on third parties; I do not 

think that there can be any.  The Council is now the owner of the land 20 

and normally if the Council or any other party is happy that their land is 

zoned in a restrictive way, then that issue normally goes away unless 

there is any sort of third party impacts. 

 

 So, there is an outstanding submission.  The real issue centres around 25 

whether the Panel can revisit an earlier rezoning but in terms of the 

merits, in my submission, it is entirely appropriate. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Again, 13(ii) may be relevant here. 

 30 

MR LAING:    Potentially, yes.  I will deal with that further in closing.  I 

wanted just to raise it in the rounds now so it is before you and it is in 

the open but in my submission, it is appropriate to rezone that land as 

Mr Govan suggested and as the Council agrees.   

 35 

 The next issue concerns management plans and special legislation in 

relation to Hagley Park and you are obviously going to hear a lot about 

this during the hearing, so I just wanted to summarise at this stage the 

Council’s position. 

 40 

 As I noted in paragraph 6.9, it is a very key plank of the 

Hands off Hagley submission that there is this management plan that 

needs to be taken into account under the Reserves Act and that there is 

other special legislation, the 1971 Empowering Act, and in 6.10 I say it 

appears – and I use those words advisedly – that their broad position, 45 

the Hagley Park Management Plan and the Empowering Act, should be 
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determinative of what provisions are included in the proposed District 

Plan under the RMA.   

 

 The Council’s position in response is fairly clear at 6.11; the Council 

acknowledges that the Management Plan is a relevant matter for the 5 

Panel.  The Council also acknowledges that it must apply the 

Reserves Act and, therefore, administer Hagley Park in a manner 

consistent with the Reserve Management Plan and I refer there to 

section 42(xi) of the Reserves Act 1977. 

 10 

 However, in the Council’s submission, the Reserves Act and RMA 

have quite distinctive purposes and that the detailed provisions of the 

Management Plan and the special legislation should not be 

determinative of what are the appropriate objectives and policies for an 

open space zone in Hagley Park and I say there that the appropriateness 15 

of these provisions must be determined by the Panel in the usual way in 

accordance with statutory requirements under the RMA and based on 

adverse effects and other relevant matters. 

 

HLC:   Before we move on from there, so “should not be determinative of the 20 

objectives and policies and rules” – but what about if a situation arises 

where they are simply incompatible? 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 25 

MR LAING:   That would be a matter for you to consider as to a) whether they 

were really truly incompatible and if so, what the - - -  

 

HLC:   Yes; let us assume for a moment that we reached the conclusion that 

they were incompatible, say with the Reserves Act – would we have 30 

much option in the matter?  Would we not have to tailor them so that 

they were compatible? 

 

MR LAING:   As I say, I use the word “determinative” advisedly. 

 35 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   If there was a significant degree of incompatibility then that 

would be a matter that I think would weigh pretty strongly with you but 

there are a number of points I wish to make on this; one is that the 40 

Management Plan is specific to Hagley Park and the Council is 

proposing a zoning that applies to other land as well with some add-

ons.  So the first thing is that the Management Plan particularly is 

specific, the zoning issues are more general.   

 45 
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 Secondly, the Management Plan is a document that deals quite 

specifically with a range of issues that are more appropriate to be in a 

Management Plan rather than in a District Plan so depending on what 

provisions in the Management Plan you were talking about, the 

question of incompatibility consistency may not weigh heavily with 5 

you or may weigh heavily depending on what consequences are. 

 

 What I was really getting at here though is that the Hands off Hagley 

submission, at least the one that was filed last week contains a lot of 

drafting or redrafting that incorporates the provisions of the 10 

Management Plan and there are a number of issues around that and one 

is that the old problem that incorporating outside documents into the 

Plan and clause 32 of the first schedule which is quite specific now as 

to what documents are appropriate to be incorporated and in my 

submission, the Management Plan is not a document of that nature and 15 

just as a matter of principle, it is not hard to see that difficulties will 

arise if you incorporate the Management Plan into the District Plan and 

the Management Plan is due for review and then it changes so you get 

the problem that the District Plan then sort of purported to be changed 

by a change in an external document. 20 

 

 So, that is one of the things I was really getting at here.  I am sure you 

will hear from Hands off Hagley Park today as to what they see as the 

really key issues.  But, in my view, the District Plan should be 

standalone, the Management Plan is standalone and there are quite 25 

different purposes of the two Acts. 

 

 I think to just take it a bit further, your point about “determinative”:  If 

the Council was proposing a commercial zoning or something just 

completely out of line, then you would look at the Reserves Act, see 30 

what the status of the land was as a reserve, look at the Special 

Empowering Act; you would come to the conclusion very quickly that 

that was an appropriate zoning, but the position is, in my view, much 

more complex and subtle when we are talking about an open space 

zone with some bespoke wording that deals with Hagley Park. 35 

 

 Is that helpful? 

 

HLC:   That is fine and it is an issue that is obviously going to be debated as 

the hearing progresses. 40 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, so in paragraph 6.13 I would just raise one issue around the 

interpretation of section 5(ii) of the Empowering Act.  This is to deal 

with the issue about appropriating parts of Hagley Park for parking 

spaces for vehicles unless that park is already appropriated for that 45 

purpose as at commencement and Ms Carter, in her revised proposal, 
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has reflected those words in terms of permanent car parking but the 

Council’s position is that there is no further need to deal with a 

permitted activity standard that deals with temporary car parking, that 

is for another hearing.  But in my view you do not need to, and it is not 

really within your province to interpret the provisions of other Acts 5 

unless it is essential to your deliberations, and in my view it is not in 

this case. 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 10 

 The next issue is Elmwood Club.  I do not think I need to take you 

through in any detail.  The Council’s position is explained there.  There 

are outstanding issues with the club as to the appropriate zoning.  The 

club invited the Council to state its position in terms of the 

interpretation of community facility, which is at the bottom of my 15 

page 13, and I address that there. 

 

 The issue there turns around the question of what publicly owned - the 

recreation and entertainment facilities are.  And certainly, if you look at 

the existing licence document that is referred to in evidence, that dates 20 

from I think 1949, and in my view that might mean at this stage that the 

existing earthquake damaged facilities are owned by the Council, but 

that does not necessarily mean that they will be in that same position 

going forward.   

 25 

 Because there is a major redevelopment plan that would have to be 

obviously a complete rethink of the contractual relationships between 

the club, the bowling club in particular, and the Council.  So I just 

make the point that I do not think again this is an issue that is 

determinate of what the appropriate zoning should be. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Mr Laing, sorry to interrupt again. 

 

MR LAING:   That is fine. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   And I will ask Ms Carter some questions about this too.  Your 

6.17, where you talk about recreational facilities definition, you need to 

be a public body to fall within that. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   I was just really seeing from the legal point of view, that seems 

to be quite an artificial and outdated delineation.  My question really is 

should, could that definition be changed to deal with that issue now; is 

there any scope, or you may need to go and have a look at that? 45 
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MR LAING:   Good question, I would need to have a look at that.  I do not 

think that the definition itself is in scope of this hearing.  But what I 

would say is I do not, as I already said before, my view is that that is 

not determinate really, of the issue here; the issue is what the 

appropriate open space zoning is, and what more neatly fits.  And 5 

really, there is almost an irrelevancy as to what the current contractual 

arrangements are with the club, because almost certainly those 

arrangements will have to be changed.   

 

 You are not going to build a very substantial new facility on land based 10 

on a licence document that dates from 1949, and which is even very 

hard to interpret.  There is no clarity going forward as to whether it is 

going to be a publicly owned facility or not.  But the real issue is what 

is the appropriate open space zoning,  

 15 

MR DAYSH:   But what I am thinking about is from an effects perspective.  It 

does not make any difference whether a facility is owned by the 

Council or is the same facility, or owned by a private party.  Would you 

accept that? 

 20 

MR LAING:   Ms Carter deals with that in her evidence, and explains why 

those words are in the definition.  And it was to try to avoid having 

commercial type facilities.  It may be broadly recreation be permitted.  

So the answer to your question is a qualified yes. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, all right, I will follow up. 

 

MR LAING:   But see Ms Carter’s evidence. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you. 30 

 

MR LAING:   I also mention that Ms Carter deals with the legal interpretation 

of that provision in her evidence.  That was, when that evidence was 

prepared it was in absence of any detailed consideration, the time of the 

contractual document.  So please just excuse what Ms Carter says, she 35 

has based on her understanding at the time.  More research is being 

done and I am sure she will address that issue if you feel it is necessary 

with you. 

 

  [10.45 am] 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.   

 

MR LAING:   So that is Elmwood.  I am very conscious of time moving on.  

Canterbury Sports Stadium; I deal with that at pages 15 and 16. 45 
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 I think that you will be able to read what I have said there.  The main 

issue for the Council is whether there is scope for that rezoning that 

CSL wants given the higher order documents, and it is dealt with in 

Ms Carter’s evidence as well.   

 5 

 And if I could then move on to page 17, to a degree I think I have 

covered these things, I will just summarise the outstanding issues. 

 

 Startle effects from fireworks, Isaac Conservation and Wildlife Trust.  

Hands off Hagley; I think I have covered off what I need to say there as 10 

well. 

 

 And again, there is a further submission from them today, so I think 

shall leave that to be heard and run. 

 15 

 And then I deal with the re-zonings, I do not think I need to go into any 

further detail.  And finally though, on page 21, zoning of 38 Waipapa 

Avenue, Mr Daley; supplementary evidence has been filed by 

Ms Carter on that point, and you will see that the Council opposes that 

submission. 20 

 

 I then deal with witnesses, set those out.  And I am happy now to go 

onto any questions before we move onto our witnesses. 

 

HLC:   Thank you very much Mr Laing.  Mr Neill? 25 

 

MR NEILL:   No questions. 

 

HCL:   Ms Huria? 

 30 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you. 

 

HLC:   No, thank you very much.   

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, I just wonder while the witness is coming up if I may be 35 

excused until the afternoon? 

 

HLC:   Certainly. 

 

MS LIMMER:   The witnesses I am cross-examining are appearing later in the 40 

day. 

 

HLC:   Yes, that is fine, thank you very much. 
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<ANDREW FARQUHARSON MILNE, affirmed  [10.47 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [10.47 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Good morning Mr Milne.  Your full name is Andrew 

Farquharson Milne? 

 5 

MR MILNE:   Yes, that is right, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   You hold the position of senior transportation planner at 

Christchurch City Council? 

 10 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Your qualifications and experience are referred to in your 

evidence? 

 15 

MR MILNE:   Yes, they are, yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you wish to make any changes to your evidence? 

 

MR MILNE:   No changes. 20 

 

MR LAING:   Do you now confirm that your evidence is true and correct? 

 

MR MILNE:   I do. 

 25 

MR LAING:   Please answer any questions. 

 

MR MILNE:   Thank you.   

 

MR LAING:   Sorry, your highlights package, I am sorry. 30 

 

MR MILNE:   Thank you sir.  Good morning Panel.  In my evidence I have 

considered the potential transport effects in regard to requested zonings 

to open space metropolitan facilities on site adjacent to Elmwood Park, 

and at a site associated with a current consented football academy in 35 

Yaldhurst Road. 

 

 For both requests I have calculated the potential vehicle trip generation, 

taking into account the sit size and allowance for complying car park 

provision and access ways.   40 

 

 For the Elmwood Park request, I find that the surrounding road network 

has the potential to absorb the modest additional traffic generated by 

the zoning.  The estimated traffic generation may be further reduced on 

the basis that the site enjoys good access by public transport, walking 45 

and cycling networks. 
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 I am also of the view that the traffic effects of any subsequent proposal 

associated with the zoning requests can be considered in more detail, 

and potentially mitigated to the assessment as a high trip generator. 

 5 

 For the Yaldhurst zoning request, which is confined to 466-482 

Yaldhurst Road only, I note that the potential trip generation of the 

requested zoning is comparable to the estimated trip generation of the 

consented football academy. 

 10 

  [10.50 am] 

 

 With reference to the traffic analysis for the consented football 

academy, I am able to conclude that the surrounding road network 

including the planned signalled site access at Yaldhurst Road can 15 

operate within capacity.  I therefore do not object to the requested OMF 

zonings on traffic grounds for both sites.  Thank you. 

 

HLC:   Thank you very much, Mr Milne.  Mr Neill? 

 20 

MR NEILL:   I have no questions. 

 

HLC:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, I have no questions either, sir. 25 

 

HLC:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you. 

 30 

HLC:   Just two matters.  First, and the answer is probably very obvious but 

what is the peak hour that you took into account for Elmwood? 

 

MR MILNE:   Elmwood is five to six. 

 35 

HLC:   Right, and the other question relates to your comment that not all of the 

predicted traffic would be new as a result of the redevelopment of the 

Elmwood site. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 40 

 

HLC:   And as I understood it, that simply means that people would be going 

on that journey regardless of whether they were calling at the Elmwood 

site. 

 45 

MR MILNE:   That is right, yes.   
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HLC:   So what percentage and how do you work it out? 

 

MR MILNE:   Well there is a rule of thumb, there is typically 10 percent of the 

passing traffic. 5 

 

HLC:   Okay. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes, so - - - 

 10 

HLC:   I see. 

 

MR MILNE:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   And that is for a reasonably major road, is it, a major through road? 15 

 

MR MILNE:   That is on arterial road, yes. 

 

HLC:   Yes, okay.  No, thank you very much.  Any questions arising from that? 

 20 

MR LAING:   Nothing further, sir. 

 

HLC:   Thank you very much, Mr Milne, that is very helpful. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.52 am] 25 
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<MS BRIDGET O’BRIEN, affirmed [10.52 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [10.52 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Bridget Mary O’Brien? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You hold the position of Senior Planning Engineer – Growth, at 

Christchurch City Council? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR LAING:   Your qualifications and experience are set out in your evidence? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 15 

MR LAING:   Do you wish to make any changes or corrections to your 

evidence? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   No. 

 20 

MR LAING:   Do you now confirm that the contents are true and correct? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, can we move to your highlights package please. 25 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   My evidence considers the technical merits in terms of water 

and wastewater servicing of the submission from Canterbury Sports 

Limited that seeks a rezoning of land at 466 and 482 Yaldhurst Road 

from the notified rural urban fringe, to open space metropolitan 30 

facilities zoning.   

 

 Water and wastewater modelling was undertaken to assess the impact 

of the rezoning sought, assuming an Olympic sized swimming pool and 

associated facilities would be constructed.  The results of the 35 

wastewater modelling show that the rezoning could be accommodated 

in the Council’s network.  However this would require constructing a 

new wastewater main from the site to the intersection of Yaldhurst 

Road and Fovant Street, a distance of approximately 1,050 metres.   

 40 

 The results of the water supply modelling show that the rezoning could 

be accommodated in the Council’s network in terms of flow and 

pressure, however this would require constructing a new water supply 

main from the site to the intersection of Yaldhurst Road and Russley 

Road, a distance of approximately 800 metres.   45 
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 The Council has no plans or budget in its long terms plan to construct 

new water supply or wastewater mains on Yaldhurst Road to the site.  

Providing the developer funded and constructed the new mains I do not 

oppose the rezoning sought.  I am happy to answer questions from the 

Panel. 5 

 

HLC:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, Ms O’Brien.  I cannot imagine what would have 

greater impact than an Olympic pool so I think you have covered my 10 

questions, thank you. 

 

HLC:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions. 15 

 

HLC:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   My question is of a general nature, not specific to any of the 

particular issues.   20 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 

 Modern technology using geotextile fabrics and those tank systems in 

the tubes that go round underneath car parks and sports fields and the 25 

like and we will talk about, you know, and the quality of the water by 

the time that that has occurred allegedly is within the realms of 

drinking water.  What considerations are given by Council when they 

approve developments to ensure that the water that potentially could 

flow back into the Avon has been appropriately treated for heavy 30 

metals and the like? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   I think you may be referring to storm water rather than 

wastewater with that? 

 35 

MR NEILL:   Yes, in storm water, yes. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, okay, well my evidence is only about water supply, so 

drinking water, and wastewater which is water that goes to the sewer 

network.  My colleague, Mr Dixon, will be talking about storm water 40 

and can answer that when it is his turn.   

 

MR NEILL:   Right. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Okay. 45 
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MR NEILL:   Thanks. 

 

HLC:   As I understand it, Ms O’Brien, the main is 800 metres away from this 

site; what will happen when the residential development opposite this 

site goes ahead, would it utilise the same main system or not? 5 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   It is possible that I could but for the purposes of this 

assessment I assume that they would have to go all the way along 

Russley Road rather than joining into the Noble subdivision. 

 10 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   If the rezoning was approved and they decided that they did 

want to build say an Olympic sized swimming pool we could then look 

at it. 15 

 

 At the moment we are currently in discussions with them and are 

approving a water supply connection through the Noble Village and 

wastewater connection through the Noble subdivision but that may not 

have sufficient capacity in terms of water and wastewater.   20 

 

 I have not checked that, but if it came to it I would check it and we 

would deal with it at the time.  I guess the point is that the Council does 

not have any funding to provide the connection to our water and 

wastewater network and it would be up to the developer and we would 25 

agree the exact outfall or connection point when the time came. 

 

HLC:   And that is your firm bottom line really is it not? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes. 30 

 

HLC:   That they would have to pay? 

 

MS O’BRIEN:   Yes, and that is quite normal, we do that for developers across 

the city.  The Council tends to fund and construct infrastructure that 35 

provides benefit for many property owners and then recover the cost of 

that infrastructure through development contributions, but where it is 

just of benefit to one property owner we expect them to make the 

connection rather than the Council. 

 40 

HLC:   Okay, thank you, Ms O’Brien.  Any matters arising? 

 

MR LAING:   No, thank you. 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Mr Laing.  Thank you very much Ms O’Brien. 45 
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MS O’BRIEN:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.58 am] 
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<IAN WRIGHT, sworn [10.58 am] 
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<EXAMINATINON BY MR LAING [10.58 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Now I am just wondering, Commissioner Neill, I do not think 

you were being heard at the back in your questions. 

 5 

MR NEILL:   Could we just test to see if the microphone is working? 

 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   I am off. 10 

 

HLC:   You try that, can we try that? 

 

MR NEILL:   One, two, three, can you hear me at the back? 

 15 

MR LAING:   Yes, I think we are right now.  Thank you.  Your full name is 

Charles Ian Wright? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   That is correct. 

 20 

MR LAING:  You hold the position of Senior Geotechnical Engineer, 

Christchurch City Council? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   I do. 

 25 

MR LAING:   Your qualifications and experience appear in your evidence? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   They do. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you have any changes or corrections to make to your 30 

evidence? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you now confirm that the evidence is true and correct? 35 

 

MR WRIGHT:   I do. 

 

MR LAING:   Can we move to your highlights package please? 

 40 

MR WRIGHT:   Thank you, good morning. 

 

 I have been asked to provide evidence in relation to the Open Space 

chapter, specifically where it pertains to geotechnical issues which may 

be associated with the rezoning of land at 466 to 482 Yaldhurst Road 45 

and 83D Heaton Street.  
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  [11.00 am] 

 

 The property at Yaldhurst Road may have a low problem with geo-

liquefaction, but I consider this to be a geotechnical challenge that, if 5 

encountered, can be mitigated against. 

 

 For the property located at Heaton Street there is ample evidence of 

liquefaction being a particularly geotechnical challenge, however, 

again, considering the land as we propose, that recreation activities I 10 

have no particular concerns.   

 

 Thank you. 

 

HLC:   Yes, thank you, Mr Wright, Mr Neill. 15 

 

MR NEILL:   Just solely in relation to Elmwood; you have indicated that there 

is liquefaction on the maps from your desktop study, but solely I take it 

that that means that the foundation issue is the only concern that you 

would have in the construction of buildings within that zone? 20 

 

MR WRIGHT:   That is correct, I have looked at the surface maps after the 

earthquake as well as some of the regional bore holes around the 

properties and they both indicate a high probability of liquefaction, and 

that would be a geotechnical challenge for any built structure, in 25 

obviously foundation work et cetera. 

 

MR NEILL:   That site is not particularly close to the Avon itself, therefore one 

presumes that the same issue applies to all of the housing which is in 

close proximity and the school which is adjacent? 30 

 

MR WRIGHT:   That is correct, I did not find any particularly worse scenarios, 

certainly the distance from any rivers or open fronts preclude any 

lateral spreading so it is pretty much the same as – the liquefaction’s 

possibility potential is the same for the area, and I guess it is business 35 

as usual for Christchurch in these areas. 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you. 

 

HLC:   Mr Daysh? 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   No questions, sir. 

 

HLC:   Ms Huria? 

 45 

MS HURIA:   No questions, sir. 
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HLC:   You have stated in your evidence that if the site is susceptible to 

liquefaction, that would not present a natural hazard in itself and that 

there are mitigation measures that could be taken. 

 5 

 Without going into detail, what sort of mitigation measures would you 

take for say a sports field? 

 

MR WRIGHT:   Well, I guess it is the mitigation, the geotechnical mitigation 

is some sort of engineering intervention.  In the case of a sports field I 10 

would have thought the best option would just to be to carry on and 

accept any liquefaction that occurs, and relevel your field, that is 

probably the cheapest and easiest option. 

 

HLC:   Thanks very much.  Mr Laing. 15 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Mr Wright. 

 20 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.03 am] 

 

HLC:   How are we going? 

 

MR LAING:   We are going very well, Mr Dixon. 25 
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<PAUL BENNETT DIXON, affirmed [11.03 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [11.03 am] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Paul Bennett Dixon? 

 

MR DIXON:   Yes. 5 

 

MR LAING:   And you hold the position of drainage engineer at the Council? 

 

MR DIXON:   I do. 

 10 

MR LAING:   Your qualifications and experience are set out in your evidence? 

 

MR DIXON:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you wish to make any changes or corrections to your 15 

evidence? 

 

MR DIXON:   No thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   So now can you confirm your evidence as true and correct. 20 

 

MR DIXON:   I do. 

 

MR LAING:   Would you please turn to your highlights package. 

 25 

MR DIXON:   In my evidence I consider the effect of two individual rezoning 

requests on the Council’s storm water network.  In respect of 

Canterbury Sports Limited, the land at 466 to 482 Yaldhurst Road does 

not connect to a storm water network.  In all but the most extreme 

circumstances, the land will not drain to any of the city’s rivers and 30 

rainfall leaves the site only by soakage into the ground. 

 

 Storm water disposal including treatment if required, is likely to 

involve temporary storage and runoff.  This could be accommodated in 

surface basins or swales that might occupy a few percent of the site.  35 

There are no obvious constraints to this on the site at present. 

 

  [11.05 am] 

 

 I am not aware of a constraint to storm water disposal to ground, 40 

provided that this complies with regional plan rules.   

 

 In respect of the Elmwood Club; the Elmwood Club connects to the 

Council storm water network by a storm water main immediately 

outside the boundary of the property.  Rezoning will permit the Club to 45 

increase the impervious area and it is likely to do so to introduce 
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additional facilities.  This would increase the rate of storm water 

runoff. 

 

 A network capacity check in 2009 indicated that nearby storm water 

mains are adequately sized, plus there is a good degree of confidence 5 

that trunk mains have capacity to service additional development. 

 

 While it is not possible to exactly quantify the effect on network 

capacity, the effect should not be more than minor.  On this basis, I do 

not oppose the rezoning sought. 10 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Mr Dixon.  Ms Huria. 

 

MS HURIA:   Good morning Mr Dixon.  Would it have been appropriate for 

you to have referred in your documents that you used forming your 15 

view to the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan? 

 

MR DIXON:   I think that the potential changes indicated by the applications 

are so minor, that it did not cross my mind to do so, and even on 

reflection, I do not see the value in trying to draw a connection there. 20 

 

MS HURIA:   I was unsure as well, but I thought I had better ask, thank you, 

thank you, sir. 

 

HLC:   Mr Daysh. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, very much.  You talk about reporting, in 

paragraph 1.4, you report on the effects of intensification on the wider 

central area; where is that reported, is there a reference document for 

that? 30 

 

MR DIXON:   I also wrote evidence on rezoning in the Christchurch Central, 

and I do not have my evidence in front of me and I cannot quite recall 

whether I made an erroneous connection there or whether I was just 

passing a comment about it in other evidence. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   So you cannot tell us where that reporting is? 

 

MR DIXON:   I cannot quote the documentation, no – except to say it is part of 

my evidence on individual rezoning requests in relation to central city 40 

residential and central city business. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you. 
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 The Canterbury Sports Limited site, Yaldhurst Road; your 5.1, I am 

unclear, you say it is not considered to drain to any of the rivers and 

rainfall leaves – so is that a fact that you know, or is that a supposition? 

 

MR DIXON:   That is a fact, there is no storm water network that picks up 5 

drainage from that site, so as I said, it is only in an unprecedented 

massive storm generating enormous amounts of runoff where water 

could leave the site and eventually find its way into network adjoining 

to the Heathcote River but that would be a civil defence emergency and 

sort of beyond the scope of what one would normally consider. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   So I was really just testing on your words, is not considered to 

drain, so that is the qualification you make, is that right, your words are 

quite vague. 

 15 

MR DIXON:   I apologise for the vagueness.  Yes, it would probably be more 

appropriate just to say it does not drain to the storm water network. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And 5.3; storm water runoff dispose of to ground soakage, is 

that generally a good thing? 20 

 

MR DIXON:   It is quite a broad question in the area I work in.  It is considered 

to be a good thing because it is considered to lead to most of the 

contaminants in storm water, if there are any, being sieved out or being 

strained out, as the water percolates through soil.   25 

 

 It is not always a good thing if it happened to be industrial storm water 

with dissolved contaminants, but that is not the case here.  

 

  [11.10 am] 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you very much.  Did Ms Carter consult you on any of 

the matters for discretion in the zoning provisions on storm water 

controls, was that a team approach when that was - - - 

 35 

MR DIXON:   No, he did not. 

 

HLC:   Mr Neill. 

 

MR NEILL:   My questions are of a general nature to better understand.  We 40 

will take Avonhead Park used for a variety of sports; one presumes that 

all storm water is soaking to ground? 

 

MR DIXON:   In effect, that would be pretty much correct, yes. 

 45 
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MR NEILL:   What difference is there if in fact there is an artificial turf as 

there is, I think, in Nunweek Park where they built their new permanent 

hockey turf; what is the difference of effect when water is soaking 

through that ground, is there a difference? 

 5 

MR DIXON:   Are we talking about an artificial turf that is permeable? – I am 

not very familiar with artificial turf. 

 

MR NEILL:   Neither am I but all I can tell you is that it looks like grass and 

feels like grass but it isn’t grass, it is like a carpet and one presumes 10 

that it has a sand base over the top of it and I presume that the water 

soaks through it and then down as it would through grass. 

 

MR DIXON:   I think the differences between that and grass are insignificant 

in storm water terms. 15 

 

MR NEILL:   Now then we come to the issue of the demand through resource 

consents to build large car parks to accommodate these sporting 

facilities.   

 20 

 The storm water issues flowing from hard sand, is that quite something 

different altogether? 

 

MR DIXON:   Yes, it is quite different. 

 25 

MR NEILL:   And it is likely to have within that heavy metals and goobies that 

we are not too happy about? 

 

MR DIXON:   It is more likely to have those things, yes, there will be those 

things because cars do emit zinc, copper and oil and grease and perhaps 30 

one or two other sediments. 

 

 In a car park attached to a sports facility, there might be pretty small 

quantities of those compared to say, an arterial road, but they are there 

in some quantity, yes. 35 

 

MR NEILL:   And to what degree then does your Council consider the 

importance of having, what you would call sophisticated, storm water 

retention facilities of the nature that I was referring to the last witness, 

where there are those big yellow tubes and geotech materials et cetera 40 

to purify the water before it enters its next stage in life? 

 

MR DIXON:   I was not able to hear your question to Ms O’Brien very well, 

but I think you may have clarified there.  The Council deals with that in 

two different ways; one way is we carry out storm water management 45 

planning for citywide storm water, and I guess the tendency will be to 
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because it cannot mitigate the storm water quality over the entire city – 

It would be too expensive – It tends to deal with the dirtiest areas.  So it 

does do planning and it attempts to meet water quality standards in its 

rivers. 

 5 

 However, more pertinent to the question you are asking which seems to 

relate to new development, there are rules both within the City Plan 

attached to our resource consent and in our bylaws that permit us to put 

conditions on new development, and we are seeking to require that new 

development mitigates its own effects on – well, on a natural 10 

environment.  In other words; contain contaminants at source. 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

 So a large car park or a car park attached to a new development is 15 

probably going to be caught by the rules in our consent that deal with 

new development and storm water mitigation. 

 

MR NEILL:   But in the past that has mainly been done by swales or surface 

basins, has it not, as opposed to what you would call the new, modern, 20 

sophisticated storm retention facilities that are being required in 

overseas developments? 

 

MR DIXON:   Earlier, there was mention of a yellow – I forget name of the 

installation, but it is an underground detention facility.  We have a one, 25 

maybe two trial installations at which we are evaluating, but in general 

we like, in fact I think we still prefer, swales or infiltration basins or 

detention basins because they are cheaper, they are more visible, they 

are more readily maintained.  I am not sure if appearance is significant, 

but they introduce green space into the city so that is a value. 30 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, sir. 

 

HLC:   Thank you, thank you very much, Mr Dixon.  Have you got any matters 

arising from that Mr Laing. 35 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.16 am] 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 40 

HLC:   Thank you very much. 

 

MR LAING:   That is all the witnesses that we have got, and we cannot do 

Mr Camp at the moment.  

 45 

HLC:   No, I have excused - - -  
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MR LAING:   There is of course cross-examination, right. 

 

HLC:   Yes, yes, thanks very much, we will take the lunch adjournment now. 

 5 

MR LAING:   Before you adjourn, I wanted to ask the Chair if I could come 

back to the question of Canterbury Sports stadium - - - 

 

HLC:   Yes? 

 10 

MR LAING:   - - -and a hot-tubbing.  Just looking at the programme for 

Monday, I see we have got two other counsel involved. 

 

HLC:   Unfortunately, I have not got that in front of me.   

 15 

MR LAING:   I was just going to say to the Panel, it may be some 

reorganisation of the order of witnesses might be useful, in terms of 

perhaps dealing with the lay witnesses first and then going on to the 

planning witnesses perhaps.  I was wondering also whether a Minute 

might be appropriate.  I am happy to undertake to talk to the other 20 

counsel concerned, but obviously they will not be aware of this 

proposal at this stage. 

 

HLC:   Yes, that is a fair suggestion, Mr Laing.  Perhaps during the break, the 

Panel will have a chat about it, see if we can firm up a little bit more 25 

the approach that we will take although it will be generally along the 

lines I think of the one that I indicated. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

 30 

HLC:   Yes, and we will certainly issue a Minute, and as far as the 

reorganisation of the schedule is concerned, that is no problem because 

people have got ample time to adjust to any reorganisation. 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, there is plenty of time on Monday at this stage to deal with 35 

that, and it will be there anyway. 

 

HLC:    Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   I can say the Council are generally supportive of the proposal I 40 

think, and I think that would be a good way of dealing with it. 

 

HLC:   Yes, okay.  Thanks very much.  We will take the lunch adjournment, 

thank you. 

 45 

ADJOURNED [11.18 am] 
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RESUMED [1.46 pm] 

 

HLC:   Mr Laing? 

 5 

MR LAING:  If the Panel pleases the next witness is Mr Camp. 

 

HLC:   Could I indicate while Mr Camp is coming to the stand that the minute 

has been signed and you should get it this afternoon. 

 10 

MR LAING:   Thank you, your Honour, that is helpful. 

 

HLC:   And feel free to come back if there are any issues. 

 

MR LAING:   I will have a read. 15 

 

HLC:   We have set a deadline for you to come back. 
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<STUART CAMP, affirmed [1.47 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [1.47 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Stuart Camp? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, it is. 5 

 

MR LAING:   You are a principal in the national acoustical consulting firm 

Marshall Day Acoustics? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I am. 10 

 

MR LAING:   You have got the qualifications and experience as shown in your 

statement of evidence-in-chief? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I do. 15 

 

MR LAING:   In fact you have prepared two statements? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I have. 

 20 

MR LAING:   A statement of evidence-in-chief and a rebuttal statement? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is correct. 

 

MR LAING:   Do you have corrections to make, Mr Camp? 25 

 

MR CAMP:   No. 

 

MR LAING:   So can you now confirm that the two statements of evidence are 

true and correct? 30 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR LAING:   Can I now ask you to turn to your highlights package please. 

 35 

MR CAMP:   Certainly, thank you. 

 

 My evidence only addresses issues raised by the Isaac Conservation 

and Wildlife Trust in regards to potential noise effects on their bird 

breeding programme.  I conclude that the proposed noise rules which 40 

apply to the Isaac site are appropriate except when noise is from 

impulsive sources such as gunshots, fireworks and perhaps vehicles 

backfiring.   

 

 I support the use of a consent process for shooting ranges and 45 

motorsport activities in this area, and I understand you have heard more 
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about that already, to ensure that potential noise effects can be 

considered on a case by case basis. 

 

 The greatest concern seems to be over fireworks and in particular in the 

possibility that they would be used as part of major sports facilities.  I 5 

certainly support a restriction on the use of fireworks at such facilities 

and I currently support the Council’s view of something in the order of 

two kilometres I consider to be appropriate. 

 

 And that is all of my summary. 10 

 

HLC:   Yes, thank you, Mr Camp.  Ms Limmer? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [1.49 pm] 

 15 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Mr Camp. 

 

 Are there any regulations in New Zealand that you are aware of as to 

how loud a fireworks display can be? 

  20 

MR CAMP:   No. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So would you agree that the loudness at source would affect 

the levels of noise received at the Trust land? 

  25 

MR CAMP:   Yes, indeed. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Would you also agree that wind and atmospheric conditions 

might affect the levels received at the Trust’s land? 

  30 

MR CAMP:   Very much so, particularly from more distant activity, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And would you agree that fireworks tend to happen later in the 

evening, when it is dark? 

 35 

  [1.50 pm] 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And ambient noise levels in the background are low at those 40 

times, aren’t they? 

 

MR CAMP:   They are lower, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Lower – and that would enhance the potential for the noise to 45 

be received or perceived as loud? 
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MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   With reference to the two kilometre setback that you now 

support, is your opinion that that is sufficient to avoid the likelihood of 5 

any startlement on the activities of the Trust land? 

 

MR CAMP:   I do not think one could ever say that it will avoid any risk of 

startle.  I think my view is tempered in part by the fact that we have 

existing shooting ranges in the area, the Trust have chosen to set up 10 

their bird breeding programme in fairly close proximity to those, and 

therefore it does not sit with me too well to then say “Well, now we 

want to control fireworks, you know, several times that same distance” 

when, you know, they are broadly the same sort of noise source. 

 15 

MS LIMMER:   So just on the existing noise sources, you would accept it as 

feasible Dr Dowding’s opinion that they may actually be having 

adverse effects on Trust activities now? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is certainly possible, yes. 20 

 

MS LIMMER:   And the potential for more noise would create the potential for 

more adverse effects, would it not? – more incidents? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   And do you accept that the levels of noise that already exist 

may have changed over the 25 years since the aviaries were first 

established? 

 30 

MR CAMP:   I am not sure that the absolute levels could have changed, the 

amount of activity, the number of noise events might well have 

changed, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, those single events are the events of concern to 35 

Dr Dowding for example, and the number of - - - 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, gunshots for example. 

 

MS LIMMER:   That is right.  And you would accept also that the Trust 40 

probably knows more now than it did 25 years ago about the effects of 

noise on its activities? 

 

MR CAMP:   I would certainly like to think so, yes. 

 45 
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MS LIMMER:   So with respect to the two kilometre distance, Mr Camp, your 

view is that it would reduce the chances of a startling event but it 

wouldn’t go so far as to a five kilometre setback in reducing the 

chances, there would be less of a chance at five kilometres? 

 5 

MR CAMP:   Absolutely.  There would be even less if we banned fireworks 

completely. 

 

MS LIMMER:   In that zone? 

 10 

MR CAMP:   Well, in the country. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes.  Well, fireworks beyond that zone are unlikely to affect 

the Trust - - - 

 15 

MR CAMP:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MS LIMMER:   - - - if we talk about the country, yes. 

 

 So I want to ask you now some questions, Mr Camp, about 20 

paragraph 3.5 of your rebuttal evidence.  And in that paragraph you 

refer to the noise limits for the Open Space zone as governing by 

default really the noise levels that might be received at the Trust site if I 

can summarise it in that way? 

 25 

MR CAMP:   Yes, other than the immediately adjoining site of course, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   That is right.  So the Trust might benefit from the open space 

rules because of the intervening open space boundaries? 

 30 

MR CAMP:   Exactly, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And is it the open space Lmax limit that would assist with the 

effects from fireworks predominantly? 

 35 

MR CAMP:   Yes, although your next question is obviously “isn’t that going to 

disappear” and the current recommendation to chapter 6 is that the 

daytime Lmax will disappear out of the rule. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, you are quite right that was my next question because, if 40 

that disappears as currently is proposed, that limit would only come in 

after 10 pm at night, would it not? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is correct.  My view, if you read my evidence-in-chief, is 

that that limit isn’t adequate to control fireworks in any event, that 45 

startle effects would start at much lower levels than that.  The point I 
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am making in my evidence here is that for most what I term normal 

noise sources, so non-impulsive sources, an Leq control is absolutely 

fine because that by default also limits your Lmax. 

 

 For fireworks, I am saying whether the Lmax exists or not really does 5 

not solve your problem. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Right. 

 

MR CAMP:   I think you need a setback distance for or you need some other 10 

way of controlling where fireworks could occur. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So we are to understand your paragraph 3.5 as relating to other 

noise not fireworks noise? 

 15 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I have said there at line 3 “for most noise sources”, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Okay.  Those are all my questions then, Mr Camp, thank you. 20 

 

MR CAMP:   Thank you. 

 

HLC:   Yes, thank you, Ms Limmer.  Re-examination? 

 25 

MR LAING:   No re-examination, sir. 

 

HLC:   Thank you.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Thank you, sir.  Mr Camp, you have visited the sites? 30 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes.   

 

MR NEILL:   You are familiar with why the number of activities are in that 

area due to flood controls and Environment Canterbury setting up a 35 

range of organisations that can use those lands? 

 

MR CAMP:   Broadly, yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   There is some reverse sensitivity here, is there not? 40 

 

MR CAMP:   Well, that is exactly the issue, yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   Now, I have may missed something but in the readings I have 

read and we are talking about shooting and fireworks in particular but 45 

there are some other things that I will come to. 
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 One of the things that occurs in close proximity is the airport 

requirements for bird strike and the method in which they go about 

assisting to ensure to no bird strikes occur and that is the use of shotgun 

around the perimeter of the airfield. 

 5 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   It is not referred to in your evidence? 

 

MR CAMP:   No, it is not, it is not something I actually gave any thought to, to 10 

be honest.  I am not even aware of how regularly they do that. 

 

MR NEILL:   It is quite regular, and it is not for me to answer your questions 

but in a different capacity I visited the airport and have toured with the 

man that is responsible for that, and it is one of the activities that he 15 

takes part in when there are bird issues. 

 

MR CAMP:   Right, yes, and of course there are bird scarers used in a number 

of agricultural or horticultural activities too. 

 20 

MR NEILL:   Are you aware of fireworks displays that have occurred in this 

area? 

 

MR CAMP:   No, I am not but I think the issue that is trying to be canvassed 

here is that the zone theoretically allows for major sporting facilities.  25 

So the issue is if they are a permitted activity does that then increase 

the risk or the likelihood that we have fireworks that is what is trying to 

be canvassed here.  So at the moment I am not aware that they have 

ever, not a serious display anyway. 

 30 

MR NEILL:   The Trust benefactor is in fact a very large gravel concrete 

making organisation with huge trucks; the starting of trucks in the early 

morning would that scare birds? 

 

MR CAMP:   Not the way they have set out their facility and they are relatively 35 

low levels.  It is really the impulsive nature of a gunshot or a fireworks 

explosion that causes the startle, often at much lower levels than a truck 

or anything else.  So I do not anticipate that they are getting startle 

effects from their quarry operations.   

 40 

MR NEILL:   What about the use of steam engine and steam engine hooters in 

the traction engine (INDISTINCT 3.25) not far away? 

 

MR CAMP:   Entirely plausible although, yes, it is getting a little bit down the 

road, it is probably another kilometre away perhaps.  So, you know, the 45 

setback is probably reasonable. 
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MR NEILL:   But if we could call it the worst offender would have to be the 

Gun Club which is only a short distance away? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, well, there are several but, yes, the closest one certainly - - - 

 5 

MR NEILL:   The handgun. 

 

MR CAMP:   - - -  yes, which have a lot of shotgun activity but also a range of 

other guns as well, yes. 

 10 

MR NEILL:   But it was there long before the sanctuary? 

 

MR CAMP:   Absolutely, yes. 

 

MR NEILL:   In regard to motorsport, and you have raised motorsport in your 15 

evidence and your rebuttal, and I could not decide or not but racing 

traction engine racing, would that come into motorsport or not? 

 

MR CAMP:   My definition of racing? – that is a bit like, you know, racing for 

snails or something, isn’t it? 20 

 

 To be honest I do not know, again the issue arose insofar as what might 

be permitted as a future activity in the zone, my understanding is that 

motorsport activities are non-complying in the district so therefore we 

do not really need to worry about them too much.  As to whether that 25 

should or could control existing operations, I don’t know. 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

MR NEILL:   But at the moment the only permitted racing area for motorsport 30 

is Ruapuna? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, in essence.  They have go-karts at Carrs Road. 

 

MR NEILL:   Yes.  All right, within the changes being recommended there are 35 

changes as it relates specifically to motor sport but as I take it, you are 

not recommending changing changes or you are as it relates to gun 

clubs? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, I am recommending that around this area, that gun clubs or 40 

shooting activities are discretionary. 

 

MR NEILL:   But those that are there would have existing use? 

 

MR CAMP:   I do not expect for a moment that that would affect the existing 45 

activities.  You know, there is a large section of land that is vacant 
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immediately adjoining the Isaac site so hypothetically, a new gun club 

could be set up on there and that could very easily result in startle 

effects in fact, it would almost be guaranteed. 

 

 So I think I you are going to do that – that is not to say it could not 5 

happen, if you look at the shooting facilities along that road, some of 

them are essentially indoors so depending what it is you are shooting 

and how you are shooting, it would be quite possible to set up across 

the road and not cause startle effects, but I would not want to see it as a 

permitted activity, I would want at least some sort of consent process. 10 

 

MR NEILL:   In regard – just getting back to the Airport, it is an activity that 

has been in existence for a long time but it has no particular consent to 

it.  What would be the position with regard to the activity that they are 

participating in if we were to set the rule as you have provided, because 15 

I think they come within the kilometre? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, they probably do.  I would anticipate that there would be 

existing use rights but that in its self might be problematic.  I do not 

know; that is more of a planning argument perhaps, or planning 20 

discussion. 

 

MR NEILL:   I am sure we will have that discussion, thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 25 

 

HLC:   Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Camp, in your evidence-in-chief you say at 

3.3, while you are not – birds are not an area of your expertise, you talk 30 

about your experience with this issue. 

 

 Can you just tell me about what your general experience is with 

animals and startle effect and those sorts of aspects? 

 35 

MR CAMP:   Primarily only in reviewing research on this subject – and in 

terms of my experience on jobs, you know, we are often out measuring 

noise in environments where there are animals, so we see it, you know, 

you observe animals where there are aircraft flying over very low for 

instance, so a little bit of work in that area but I do not profess to be an 40 

expert on animal effects. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, so at 4.4, again you refer to your research shower 

certain levels - - - 

 45 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 
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MR DAYSH:   - - -what research are you citing there? 

 

MR CAMP:   I could find you the reference if you wish, there are some very 

good international papers that have been - peer reviewed scientific 5 

papers on startle effects on animals, I have not got that with me, I’m 

sorry, I could find it if you like. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, so you are asking us to rely on an evidential basis of 

research without actually sighting the key research. 10 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, an oversight on my part, I apologise. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, well I think I it would be useful for you to provide the key 

references.  And again in paragraph 4.4, are you saying that these sorts 15 

of effects we are concerned with start at levels at about 60 but then 

birds do not take flight until 80 Lmax, so 60 is at a lot lower end 

conservative number? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is what  get out of the research and our own company’s 20 

experience, yes, that they start to observe some discomfort perhaps, if 

you like, at levels of about 60, but by the time you get to 80, if anything 

happens fly. 

 

MR DAYSH:   They fly up into the air? 25 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, and that is why even though we have had the 

discussion about the Lmax may – in the plan - - - 30 

 

MR CAMP:   That’s right, what I am saying - - - 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   That is why you are recommending it, I think, 5.5 you said 

there is 60 dB Lmax, that is a conservative conclusion. 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, what I am claiming is even a daytime Lmax of 75 did exist 

that is already at a point where we are starting to get up to serious 40 

startle effects like birds taking flight so I do not think that is anywhere 

near stringent enough. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But you are not recommending an Lmax anymore? 

 45 
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MR CAMP:   No, because arguably we should have made shooting activities 

discretionary in the entire district and I am not quite sure why we did 

not do that because, in essence your normal District Plan limits are not 

adequate to control shooting laws.  Whether you have a daytime Lmax 

or not is of no consequence for 99.9 percent of everything we ever look 5 

at because they do not have serious impulsive noises. 

 

 You know, even if you had a panel beating shop which has a lot of 

hammering, there is so much of it that the LEQ rises and it exceeds 

your LEQ limit anyway, so one by default controls the other. 10 

 

 A shooting range is the exception.  It is very much the exception to the 

rule that if you are setting up a new shooting range with nothing else 

near you would probably be trying to achieve an Lmax of maybe 50 or 

55 which, you know, in the context of most District Plans which have – 15 

in fact, very few District Plans in the country have a daytime Lmax 

control at all.  Night time is often set at 75 so if gun laws are to be 

acceptable need to be much, much, much lower levels. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, that is sort of helpful – and that goes on to your 20 

recommendation that in this situation with the sensitive activities and 

irrespective of the fact that we already have a number of gun facilities 

there, future gun club type shooting activities should be discretionary? 

 

MR CAMP:   Yes, well, I think some sort of consent process from my point of 25 

view.  Restricted discretionary might be fine, for example, but at least 

requiring an assessment of effects so that you can look at what that 

might be.  Say, you could design an indoor range and it would be 

perfectly acceptable. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:  Right, thank you.  That is all I have. 

 

HLC:    Mr Camp, just to follow on with reference to a point that was raised by 

Mr Daysh, the Lmax, as I understand it, the Lmax for daytime has 

effectively been abandoned because it would not serve any worthwhile 35 

purpose, is that correct? 

 

MR CAMP:   That is correct. 

 

HLC:    Now, what I want to understand though is that at 4.7 of your original 40 

brief you have said “impulse noise sources should ideally be limited to 

60 dBA Lmax and what I am trying to do is to reconcile those two 

thoughts.  One, the Lmax during the daytime is not achieving any 

purpose and then the comment, “Well, perhaps we ought to have a 

ceiling after all.”  Now, this probably reflects a misunderstanding on 45 

my part, can you explain it for me, please? 
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MR CAMP:   In essence, here when I refer to impulsive noises I am really 

talking gunshots, fireworks.  So there is virtually nothing else we ever 

deal with where you need that Lmax control. 

 5 

HLC:    So, but the 60 Lmax would not be necessarily a waste of time then? 

 

MR CAMP:   No, but if you imposed that as a – I mean, you could do that.  

You could impose a daytime Lmax limit for this site but you see, you 

would suddenly control everything else that does not need to be 10 

controlled by that.   

 

HLC:   Yes, yes. 

 

MR CAMP:   You see 60 Lmax from a gunshot is quite a different effect than 15 

60 Lmax from a car driving past.  You relate to them completely 

differently.  You know, if you go and stand on the footpath when a car 

goes past you will probably get an Lmax of 70 and you do not perceive 

that as being particularly loud.  60 dB from a gunshot is not nice.  It 

would frighten you as human being. 20 

 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

HLC:   So your position is that if you did impose that daytime standard you are 

going to have unintended consequences as well? 25 

 

MR CAMP:   That is right, unless you only imposed it for shooting ranges and 

fireworks for example. 

 

HLC:   Yes, yes.   30 

 

MR CAMP:   Now for shooting ranges that would be okay because that is 

something you could design to. 

 

HLC:   Yes. 35 

 

MR CAMP:   For fireworks the problem is if you were going to do a fireworks 

display you are not going to know whether you are going to meet that 

or not.  So I think a setback distance is a simpler way of confining 

fireworks. 40 

 

HLC:   Yes.  Thanks very much for that. 

 

MR CAMP:   You are welcome. 

 45 

HLC:   Re-examination, Mr Laing? 
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MR LAING:   Nothing, sir. 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Mr Laing.  Thanks very much, Mr Camp. 

 5 

MR CAMP:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.10 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Sir, just before I call Ms Carter, I can inform the Panel that 10 

agreement has been reached with the Crown in principle.  There is a 

draft memorandum that can be circulated, but is subject to final signoff 

by the two parties. 

 

HLC:   Yes. 15 

 

MR LAING:   So we envisage that being done this afternoon.  In terms of 

Ms Carter there is an outstanding cross-examination request.  We can 

have that filed with the Panel now? 

 20 

MS WHITE:   Yes, shall I give a copy - - -  

 

HLC:   Yes, that would be very helpful Ms White, yes, thank you. 

 

MR LAING:   Just need copies.  I think what we could do if the Panel is happy 25 

with this is to proceed with Ms Carter but on that basis that there is 

agreement with the Crown that would have the immediate consequence 

that the Crown would no longer require her for cross-examination. 

 

HLC:   Sure, yes. 30 

 

MR LAING:   And equally, the Council would no longer require Ms Barker for 

cross-examination. 

 

HLC:   Yes. 35 

 

MR LAING:   That is covered off in the memorandum to be filed. 

 

HLC:   Okay, well thank you very much. 

 40 

MR LAING:   (INDISTINCT 2.43) 

 

HLC:   Yes, no, no and that is very helpful.  Now as I understand – sorry 

Ms White? 

 45 
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MS WHITE:   I have nothing additional to add, but the memorandum as 

circulated should be pretty self-explanatory. 

 

HLC:   Yes.  Thank you very much.  I think at this stage we are now onto 

Hands Off Hagley and according to the hearing schedule we have got 5 

Professor Kissling who I understand has to, which is Professor? 

 

 Good afternoon, Professor.  Now do you want to lead off?  You are 

first in the list of three people with Ms Dingwall and Ms Martin, or you 

choose whatever order you like except that we are conscious that you, 10 

Professor, have got to get away to catch your plane. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Thank you very much, yes, I will lead off?  Do 

you want me here or there? 

 15 

HLC:   Well no, these are statements, not evidence and you are welcome to 

present them from where you are sitting, although it is traditional to 

stand if that is not too difficult, thank you. 
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<PROFESSOR KISSLING [2.14 pm] 
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PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Well I will begin with itemising the outcomes that 

Hands off Hagley really are seeking from this process. 

 

 The first of these is that we wish to see reinforcements in enduring 

protection for Hagley Park and we see that by listing the park as a 5 

heritage area and also by embedding the spirit of the Hagley Park 

Management Plan in the proposed revised District Plan. 

 

HLC:  Yes, I did not catch what you said, something the spirit of the 

management. 10 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes, the spirit of the Hagley Park Management 

Plan. 

 

HLC:   And the word before that? 15 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Embedding. 

 

HLC:   Embedding, thanks very much.  Yes. 

 20 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   The second bullet point I have is we support a 

wide range of sporting and recreational activities within the 

environmental capacity of the park.  We note that the strategic 25 

directions is encouraging the greater use of parks and reserves, but we 

are saying that in Hagley Park’s case please make sure it is within the 

environmental capacity of the park. 

 

 The third point we wish to remove or have removed all doubt and room 30 

for misunderstanding of the rules that apply to the management of the 

park, especially with respect to vehicle access inside the park and 

parking provision within the constraints set in the Christchurch City 

Reserves Empowering Act and we see this as a matter that may require 

a judicial declaration given the debate that has been going on. 35 

 

HLC:   Just pausing there Professor, I am just trying to put my hands on the 

Empowering Act.  You are referring there are you to - - -  

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Sir, Ann Dingwall will bring you the wording you 40 

are referring to. 

 

HLC:   Thanks, yes I have got it in front of me.  That is right, I have got it, 

thanks very much, yes. 

 45 



 Page 331 

  

Ch18: Open Space Commenced 17.02.16 

 It is the words “notwithstanding”, et cetera, “shall not without the 

consent of the minister appropriate any part of Hagley Park for parking 

places for vehicles unless the parties have already appropriated”, is that 

what you are relying on there? 

 5 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Exactly, thank you, yes. 

 

 Next point we would seek the minimisation of enclosures of the 

commons for private commercial gain, three civic events are one thing, 

but the spread of commercial activity beyond the event zone is 10 

ongoing, it has been a sort of creeping disease in some ways within 

Hagley Park. 

 

 The next point is we were surprised and disappointed and in mediation 

quite frustrated that the Hagley Park Management Plan was overlooked 15 

until we raised it.  An effort to get around the controls it exerts has been 

to us seemingly the primary aim of some planners. 

 

 So Hagley Park Management Plan 2007 cannot be ignored, nor can the 

Christchurch City Reserves Empowering Act, without exposing we 20 

submit that the pRDP could be challenged on points of law. 

 

 Next point; Hagley Park sits at the top of the parks and reserves 

hierarchy in the Christchurch region.  The rules may be quite 

acceptable in some lesser parks and reserves but retention of Hagley 25 

Park’s iconic status needs, we submit, special consideration and we 

have suggested how these might be embraced but have not yet achieved 

the confidence that the outcome in the proposed revised district plan 

will meet our civic concerns. 

 30 

HLC:   So you are essentially suggesting there a separate zoning are you? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   Yes. 35 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   A heritage listing and a separate zone. 

 

HLC:   Right. 

 40 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   The next point we seek further mediation as a 

process so far has left many incomplete and unresolved issues, 

particularly relating to rules that should follow from policies and 

objectives.  We do our best with limited resources to call upon. 

 45 
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 That is my summary introduction, there are further points that we 

would to like to highlight as well. 

 

HLC:   Sure. 

 5 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Hands off Hagley’s identification of resource 

management issues in our statement our concerns for recognition of 

this is significant historic and cultural heritage of Hagley Park, an open 10 

space in the proposed community park zone, and the statutory 

obligations pertaining to its protection in the revised District Plan. 

 

 We raise the matter of the evidence that came forth in the Environment 

Court in 2013.  The Court made the finding of fact that I quote “for the 15 

purpose of a section 60 of the RMA we find Hagley Park is an area of 

historic and cultural heritage derived from its landscape design”.   

 

HLC:   Now you referred to the paragraph number, I am sure it was in the 

original submission - - - 20 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   It is in our submission. 

 

HLC:   Yes, have you got the paragraph number handy? 

 25 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Have we got that? 

 

MS DINGWELL:   348. 

 

HLC:   Thank you.   I just want to see it in context, that is all.   30 

 

MS DINGWELL:   It is 348 in the Court’s Decision.   

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes. 

 35 

HLC:   I have it, thank you very much. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   The Court had previously noted; “While the 

heritage of the park is not a matter recognised through the District 

Plan’s zoning, it is recognised in the HPMP – The Hagley Park 40 

Management Plan – which provides that English heritage style 

woodland and open space landscape character is to be protected and 

enhanced.” 

 

 Furthermore, the Court stated “when authorising the use of Hagley 45 

Park…” 
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HLC:   Can you just pause, are you able to give us the paragraph for the quote 

you have just given, please. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Okay. 5 

 

MS DINGWELL:   347. 

 

HLC:   Right, okay, thank you.   

 10 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   My colleagues have that detail.   

 

HLC:   That is fine. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   And the third quote - - - 15 

 

HLC:   Which is at paragraph. 

 

MS DINGWELL:   132(c). 

 20 

HLC:   Thank you.   You have got these to memory haven’t you. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   “When authorising the use of Hagley Park the City 

Council is comply with the Management Plan.”   

 25 

HLC:   Yes, thank you. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   I am primarily speaking about the management of 

Hagley Park, which does not include the Botanic Gardens, because the 

Botanic Gardens is a separate legal entity with a separate classification 30 

under the Reserves Act.   

 

 But nevertheless, the Council statutory Hagley Park Management Plan 

of 2007 and the Council’s 2013 Hagley Park Botanic Garden’s 

Conversation Plan record Hagley Park’s historic and cultural values, 35 

which make a significant contribution to Canterbury’s distinctive 

character and sense of identity.   

 

 2013 Canterbury Regional Policy Statement, to which the District Plan 

must give effect, identifies the loss or degradation of historic heritage 40 

values as a resource management issue, particularly relevant in the case 

of Hagley Park.   

 

 Chapter 13, Historic Heritage, notes that some historic heritage areas 

are not identified within District Plans, and as such their historic and 45 

cultural values are not adequately protected.  A loss and/or degradation 
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of significant historic heritage features results in a diminishing of an 

important and finite regional resource. 

 

 The statement advises that the contribution of historic heritage areas 

and their associated values to cultural wellbeing is “often not 5 

recognised or appreciated until they are lost forever”.  Their 

identification of protection “is essential in providing for the social 

economic and cultural wellbeing of the community”. 

 

 However, notwithstanding the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement’s 10 

direction in policy 13.3.1 for the Council to set out set out objectives 

and policies providing “for their recognition and protection of 

significant heritage areas that meet specified criteria”.  The 

Environment Court’s finding the meaning of “sustainable 

management” inserted in the purpose of the Resource Management Act 15 

and the Act’s section 6(f), “requirement for the protection of historic 

heritage”. 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 20 

 A notified proposed District Plan did not recognise and provide for the 

protection of Hagley Park, as an historic and cultural heritage area from 

inappropriate subdivision, use and development.  Nor did the Plan, at 

the very least, include objectives and provisions to adequately 

recognise and protect Hagley Park’s historic and cultural heritage. 25 

 

 So we are saying that, since Hagley Park’s cultural and heritage values 

are vulnerable to loss or degradation from land use activities managed 

by the “Open Space Proposal”, Hands off Hagley seeks site specific 

relief for their protection in the Open Space proposal, in addition to a 30 

listing in the natural and cultural heritage proposal. 

 

 Hands off Hagley has suggested the inclusion of a separate zone for 

Hagley Park in the Open Space chapter.  However, Hands off Hagley 

defers to the hearings Panel as the most appropriate plan solution for 35 

Hagley Park’s protection. 

 

 Contrary to the statements by Council officers, Hagley Park is not own 

by the Council.  The Christchurch City Reserves Empowering Act 

1971 vested Hagley Park in the corporation, meaning the Mayors, 40 

councillors and citizens of the city of Christchurch, and distinguished 

from the Council.  Thus the Council has a “stewardship” role in terms 

of section 7AA of the Resource Management Act. 

 

 We say the changes that have been made in the process of mediation up 45 

to date have not gone far enough.  We have welcome and participated 
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in mediation with the Council.  Consequently the Council has amended 

the text in the Open Space chapter with the relevance to the 

management of Hagley Park, Hands off Hagley is grateful for the 

amendments to date. 

 5 

 However, Hands off Hagley contends the amendments do not yet go far 

enough in achieving the purpose of the Act, satisfying mandatory 

statutory considerations and ensuring compliance with section 23(1) 

with Resource Management Act. 

 10 

 In the case of Hagley Park, relevant legislation include Christchurch 

City Reserves Empowering Act 1971 and the Reserves Act 1977.  

Accordingly yesterday Hands off Hagley submitted to the Panel for the 

Council’s consideration, also suggested amendments to the 4th of 

February updated 18.1.3 objective 3 and 18, 1.4, policy 1.   15 

 

 Hands off Hagley also stated its current position regarding amendments 

to be made - - -  

 

HLC:   Just to pause there Professor for a moment?  20 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes? 

 

HLC:   You probably were not here this morning - - -  

 25 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   No, I was not. 

 

HLC:   - - - when Mr Laing mentioned the proposed amendments that have 

been put forward by Hands off Hagley and raise the possibility that 

Ms Carter might not had an opportunity to consider them before she is 30 

cross-examined, and so the indication was given that if more time was 

required then it would be allowed and Ms Carter might have to be 

called again - - -  

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Thank you for that. 35 

 

HLC:   - - - to respond to those particular suggestions you have put forward – it 

is just the nature of the process where it is “chicken and egg” and 

timeframes are always difficult. 

 40 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Understand that. 

 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   We have been subject to those same timeframes. 45 
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HLC:   Sure. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   However, by chance on Monday 15 February this 

week, during a formal definitions mediation session, Hands off Hagley 

learnt that the Council is already proceeding with an unannounced 5 

review of the 2007 Hagley Park Management Plan under the Reserves 

Act. 

 

 While Hands off Hagley has requested the inclusion of referral to the 

Management Plan or Reserve Management Plan in rules and matters of 10 

discretion, this has not eventuated. 

 

 Nevertheless, news of the Council’s imminent review of the Hagley 

Park Management Plan now creates uncertainty, not only for Hands off 

Hagley but also for the public at large, as to the extent of the 15 

Replacement District Plan’s protection of the historic and cultural 

heritage values of Hagley Park. 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 20 

 Hands off Hagley contends that the 17 February updated rules do not 

implement the objectives and policies applicable to the management of 

Hagley Park.  Therefore the Plan does not give effect to the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement in respect of protection of Hagley Park’s 

heritage from loss and/or degradation. 25 

 

 On the other hand, if a District Plan rules and matters of discretion 

were to require referral to any future Reserve Management Plan 

objectives and policies other than those of the operative 2007 

Hagley Park Management Plan, the replacement District Plan could 30 

well not give effect to the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement in 

respect of the protection of the historic heritage of Hagley Park from 

loss and/or degradation. 

  

 Furthermore, if the Panel aims to provide clarity by laying down rules 35 

referring users to the Hagley Park Management Plan, as amended from 

time to time, then it will not achieve its goal in our opinion. 

 

 If the Panel’s intended outcomes can be subsequently unilaterally 

amended by the Council’s amending the Hagley Park Management 40 

Plan without right of appeal under the Reserves Act 1977, Hands Off 

Hagley contends that the Panel’s rulings will be defeasible.   

 

HLC:   There is provision is there not for public input into a review of a 

Management Plan but you are saying, well, you might have your say 45 

but it might be ignored and you have got no redress from there? 
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PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Correct. 

 

HLC:   So how do you suggest that that situation might be addressed because 

the Reserves Act is, of course, statutory law?   Its processes are beyond 5 

challenge essentially except by way of change of legislation.  So, have 

you got something in the back of your mind as to how the conundrum 

you have mentioned, might be resolved? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   We were warned at some stage of the mediation 10 

that Management Plans do not necessarily have a long term effect of 

achieving what you are wanting; they do get changed but if you have 

got the intent that is those Management Plans embedded in a District 

Plan, they do have much more power. 

 15 

HLC:   Yes, I see where you are coming from.   

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Therefore, the uncertainty arising from the fact 

that the future Hagley Park Management Plan could no longer be relied 

upon to protect Hagley Park’s historic and cultural heritage, 20 

Hands off Hagley contends that the Replacement District Plan would 

be stronger as a protection of the 2007 Hagley Park Management Plan 

were to be written into the Replacement District Plan.  That just says 

what I just said to you, adlibbed.   

 25 

 So we are saying that a Replacement District Plan should reflect the 

intent and substance of the Operative 2007 Hagley Park Management 

Plan.  Such an action would be consistent with strategic directions and 

objectives 3.3.1(c) and 3.3.9(c). 

 30 

 The sequence of events since the Council’s notification of the Proposed 

District Plan is revealing of the Council’s intentions for the use and 

development of Hagley Park.  Originally, as I have mentioned,  

avoiding any reference either to Hagley Park by name or to the 

statutory 2007 Hagley Park Management Plan, the Council has been 35 

compelled by Hands Off Hagley’s submissions and mediation to 

include a reference to Hagley Park in the propose Plan.   

 

 However, the Council has declined all requests by Hands off Hagley to 

include any references to the Management Plan in the rules and matters 40 

of discretion.  It is already proceeding with an unannounced review, as 

I have mentioned, of the review of the Hagley Park Management Plan. 

 

 So, since the Council has now raised legal issues with the Panel 

including interpretation, Hands off Hagley request the Panel have such 45 

matters resolved judiciously, if necessary, before the District Plan is 
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finalised.  Otherwise, there would be grounds for appeal on points of 

law which Hands off Hagley assure the Panel would wish to avoid and 

so do we because we cannot afford it.  Thank you. 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Professor.  Now, perhaps we will delay questions from the 5 

Panel until we have heard from – Ms Dingwall, were you intending to 

speak as well? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   The other members sitting here are probably well 

versed in answering some of your questions. 10 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

HLC:   Okay, right well feel free when we ask questions to flick them on if you 

wish, okay. 15 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Beware for the flick on. 

 

HLC:   Now, Mr Daysh? 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, thank you, sir. 

 

 Thank you, Professor for that summary of your submission and also the 

very well put together document that is in front of us in terms of the 

statement.  I do have some questions, not being a local Christchurch 25 

person, about Hands off Hagley and its membership and those sorts of 

things.  I think it is an umbrella group covering a range of other 

existing organisations, is that correct? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   I will flick that one to the Chairman. 30 

 

HLC:   Just for the sake of the record I wonder if we ought to record now, 

Professor we have got your name but address and speciality perhaps, if 

you would not mind? 

 35 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes, my name is Christopher Charles Kissling, I 

am an Emeritus Professor Lincoln University.  My speciality areas are 

in transport systems analysis and in environmental matters.  I am also a 

specialist in aviation, but that is not part of this. 

 40 

HLC:   Fine, no thanks very much, that is very helpful, and Ms Dingwall? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Yes, I am an original member of Hands off Hagley.  I am 

also a member of the Christchurch Civic Trust which also is an 

organisation under the umbrella of Hands off Hagley, and my father, 45 

Raul Livingstone, (ph 2.02) worked closely with the Prime Minister at 
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the time, Norman Kirk, on the legislation, the Christchurch City 

Reserves Empowering Act, which involved stopping the famous road 

through the park. 

 

 But also there are other provisions affecting Hagley including, I know 5 

that he was very closely involved with tightening the Act later to 

prohibit any part of Hagley Park being taken under the Public Works 

Act for any public work whatsoever. 

 

HLC:   Right, yes. 10 

 

MS DINGWALL:   So there has been a longstanding interest and passion for 

Hagley Park in our family. 

 

HLC:   Thank you very much and Ms Martin? 15 

 

MS MARTIN:   Yes, I am the secretary of Hands off Hagley.  I have had 

experience with planning matters in the past with the City Council. 

 

HLC:   Yes, thank you very much, and finally - - -  20 

 

MR MEEHAN:   Sorry, my name is Martin Meehan, I am the Chairman of 

Hands off Hagley, I am a businessman but otherwise the least qualified 

of the whole bunch to speak.  I am just basically an ordinary citizen 

with an interest in Hagley Park but these people would be the experts 25 

within the group. 

 

HLC:   Yes.  Well thank you very much for that and now we will go back to 

Mr Daysh’s question.  Perhaps, would you like him to repeat it? 

 30 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   You were passing it on I think, Professor were you, to someone else? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes, I am passing it to Martin who is - - - 35 

 

HLC:   Do you want the question repeated. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:  - - - or the secretary, either/or would know the 

numbers that we have involved and who is on our mailing list. 40 

 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MR MEEHAN:   Okay, Hands off Hagley has a mailing list and supporters of 

around about 1,000.  We have had petitions signed by over 3,000 45 

people at various times.  We are an umbrella group representing the 
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East Riccarton Residents’ Association, Deans Avenue Residents’ 

Association, Civic Trust, ICONZ and Central City Residents. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is it an incorporated society? 

 5 

MR MEEHAN:   Yes, we are an incorporated society. 

 

MR DAYSH:   You are an incorporated society? 

 

MR MEEHAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  I was interested in your statement, you attached an 

appendix titled, Scale and Significance of Valuation around the 

objectives and policies.  Can you tell me who prepared that document? 

 15 

MR MEEHAN:   One of our members, Sue Williams. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Is Sue a qualified planner?  It looks like a planning sort of 

document? 

 20 

MR MEEHAN:   She is a very intelligent lady and as all of us, we are 

relatively amateur in the law but we have put a lot of work into this.  

She is a teacher for gifted children and I think she is pretty gifted 

herself. 

 25 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   But she is not – she would not be an expert as a planner? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   No. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Have you taken through the Environment Court process or this 

process, any expert planning advice for the Incorporation? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   In the Environment Court process we did have 35 

some expert witnesses and we had legal counsel.  We received a grant 

from legal aid, environment legal aid, and we received costs from the 

Environment Court to cover some of our costs, which was deemed a bit 

unusual, but we believe this because they found us quite helpful to the 

Court’s processes. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   That was not really my – my question was have you had expert 

planning advice through any of these processes? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   For this process here? – no 45 

 



 Page 341 

  

Ch18: Open Space Commenced 17.02.16 

MR DAYSH:   All right, that is okay.  Do I understand that your preference is 

for a standalone Hagley Park zone, for want of a better name? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   And that should have its own objectives, policies and specific 

rules? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:    Yes, we see that as the best way for John Citizen 

to be able to go to the district plan and find out what you can and 10 

cannot do with Hagley Park without traipsing all over the various 

chapters of the district plan. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So the following question, in your submission, did you actually 

outline the zone that you would like in terms of the objectives, policies 15 

and rules that you are seeking? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   What would the zone boundaries be, is that your 

question? 

 20 

MR DAYSH:   When you ask for a new zone, when you make a submission, 

you would normally put up the objectives, policies and rules so anyone 

interested could either support that or make a further submission on 

that.  So it is a question of natural justice. 

 25 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   We would be happy to work with planners to try 

and produce those, they have basically asked us to do their job and 

produce them for them. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But my question is, in your submission you did not present a 30 

zone set of provisions or any objectives, policies, rules, in your 

submission? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   We did not go as far as that. 

 35 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, all right so you have not produced something that you 

would like to see, - - - 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   No. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   - - - you just asked for a zone in a general sense. 

 

MS DINGWALL:   As a starting point. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, thank you – and I think my final question is about the 45 

Hagley Park Management Plan. 



 Page 342 

  

Ch18: Open Space Commenced 17.02.16 

 

 Management Plans in my experience under the Reserves Act are quite a 

different – they have quite a different function; they are an operational 

plan under the Reserves Act to what you would normally see in a 

district plan. 5 

 

 Is my understanding that you would like to actually see them – the 

Hagley Park Management Plan actually replicated word for word or 

somehow into the District Olan? 

 10 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Well, the way I put it in my opening, it really was 

that I expected the spirit of the Hagley Park Management Plan 

somehow to be reflected in the District Plan.  Now how that is done, is 

a matter really for negotiation and expert input, I would say. 

 15 

 But we would not want to see existing Hagley Park Management Plans 

provisions watered down, we would like them to be – and any 

misinterpretation is resolved and that reflected in the rules and 

regulations that it governs the District Plan. 

 20 

MR DAYSH:    But I think you accept that management plans can change and 

that is why drafting district plans and other regional plans are always 

very careful not to just refer to another document, that may change in 

the future because that then obviously undermines the integrity of the 

plan. 25 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   When trying to draft something that is 

generalisation for a wide variety of parks and reserves – which is what 

the planners are trying to do – it is very difficult for them to cover all 

the specific situations that might exist for particular heritage park, like 30 

Hagley Park. 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, perhaps one more question. 

 

 This is around term “heritage” that you are seeking to actually get 35 

enshrined in the objectives and policies and I think you have made 

submissions to the Cultural and Heritage Chapter? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   We have. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   And I think there was a finding perhaps in the Environment 

Court as you explained, that this does qualify as an area of heritage. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   In our mediation with the City Council planners, 

they have agreed with us that Hagley Park ticks all the boxes necessary 45 
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for being listed, but they still will not do it for some reason, we do not 

know. 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Have they been reluctant to actually include the fact that 

Hagley Park does have heritage values in the objectives and policies 

are you saying they have not wanted to include that particular aspect? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Perhaps I could help here – In chapter 9 they only go as far 10 

as having policy in respect of historic heritage areas which is for the 

future to develop a framework for assessing historic heritage areas, but 

they do not specifically mention what particular areas that they might 

be thinking of as assessable is just a project for the future and certainly 

there is no indication that Hagley Park would have even been 15 

considered for assessment. 

 

MR DAYSH:   That is part of a different panel and panel process that a Panel 

is still deciding on so, yes, look that is very helpful, thank you very 

much for those answers. 20 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Mr Daysh.  Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Yes, thank you Dr Kissling, Doctor, can I ask you with regard to 

the incorporated society yourself how many actual members does your 25 

corporal rated society have, your society, not your mailing list of 

whatever, your financial members?  How many financial members? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   How many actually financial members is I think 

12.  That is the way we were set up – that was not the way we raised 30 

money I think it is how many do we actually need to become an 

incorporated society, grabbed the first 12 and we have left it at that but 

beyond that of course there is the mailing list and all the supporters 

who donate money towards it. 

 35 

MR NEILL:   Yes, but there is no subscription to your organisation? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   No, we accept donations. 

 

MR NEILL:   No, that is fine.  Can you help me – because I was unaware until 40 

the statements you have provided today – about the Gardens 

themselves which I think you said were separated from the rest, can 

you elaborate on that for me? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   I can say the Christchurch City Reserves Empowering Act 45 

as you may be aware defines the boundaries of Hagley Park in that Act 
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and Hagley Park is classified under the Reserves Act as a recreation 

reserve under section 17.  The Botanic Gardens is classified – I am not 

quite sure – but it is a different classification under the Reserves Act, it 

is certainly not a recreation reserve and as I say it is a separate legal 

entity.  It has its own management plan, but the Botanic Gardens 5 

management plan I understand is not a statutory plan, but the Hagley 

Park management plan is a statutory management plan. 

 

MR NEILL:   From your perspective you are not looking for any issues in 

respect to the Botanical Gardens? 10 

 

MS DINGWALL:   No, it is not our focus, I mean our trust deed it would be 

outside the objectives of our society. 

 

MR NEILL:   Right, that then if we were to summarise the concerns you have, 15 

am I right in saying, and I am not necessarily in their order but you 

wish it to have a heritage Status? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes. 

 20 

MR NEILL:   You wish it to be separately zoned with its own zoning rules and 

policies? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes. 

 25 

MR NEILL:   Then having achieved that you have real concern about parking 

matters, car parks? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   You are now into my area of speciality. 

 30 

MS DINGWALL:   That is Chris’s forte. 

 

MR NEILL:   Your turn Dr Kissling. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   I am an emeritus professor of transport studies.   35 

 

 Parking – and you would think a professor of transport studies would 

do everything to try and make the traffic and everything work; well it is 

very easy to overcome some of your problems out on the roads if you 

allow the vehicles into the park.  It is to me it is completely foreign for 40 

the way in which a park should be used. 

 

 I do not know of any other major park in New Zealand, let alone any 

other major park overseas, which allows vehicles to be parked on the 

turf playing areas.  We do it here in Christchurch over and over and 45 

over again.  If you have been visiting recently in Christchurch you 
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would have seen various events.  The city council has said to us, the 

planners, “that we are trying to gradually decrease the amount of use of 

parking in the park”, they – for one of the latest events, they said, “No 

parking in the park” and they had to give way for the following two 

days because of the pressure. 5 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

 There are problems associated with managing traffic and parking 

around a major park that caters for a very wide range of activities.  10 

There is also the problems of conflict between that and other users 

around the area who want to park as well, and the biggest one of course 

is Christchurch Hospital. 

 

 There is conflict in the use of parking, there are areas that the nurses 15 

and others and the visitors to the hospital have traditionally use, that are 

now not so easy for them to use because events takeover and those 

areas get roped off. 

 

 We are saying, in the city planning process – and I having taught a 20 

number of planners over the years as well – for a park like that, you are 

not trying to provide parking inside the park for the activities inside the 

park, you should be looking around the perimeter of the park for 

opportunities to make parking available there. 

 25 

 If you come from Auckland, do they let cars flood all over Auckland 

Domain? I have not seen it, but we do here. 

 

 So there are issues, there are definite planning issues, there are different 

zoning issues, there are different ways and means to be looked in your 30 

Replacement Plan process.  I am suggesting to you here and now, that 

there is a lot of “red zoned” territory that the government owns, which 

could accommodate a number of the activities, big scale activities that 

take place in Hagley Park now and they could be in areas that are easily 

accessed, traffic managed easily and noise problems would not be an 35 

issue.  They are now for Hagley Park. 

 

 So I am looking for the availability of land elsewhere to relieve the 

pressure on Hagley Park.  I have seen with my own eyes where some of 

these things could go.  I took a Canadian visitor, a recently retired 40 

senior official with Canadian Parks and Reserves Department, he and I 

went through McGill University together and he has just been visiting – 

I took him on a tour of Christchurch just a few days ago. 

 

 When I showed what was happening he said, “and they letting that 45 

happen in Hagley Park? – you must be crazy”; and when I showed him 
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the areas in the red zone where possibly some of these events could 

take place he said, “good solution” – and I do not know whether you 

are taking into account in the zoning for the future in this Plan that you 

are putting together, whether the red zone area has any impact at all, 

but I leave it with you as a suggestion. 5 

 

MR NEILL:   Now the other concerns that you have are proliferation of 

business opportunities within the park? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes, very concerned about that because it usually 10 

means that the areas have to be fenced off temporarily, temporary 

followed by temporary followed by temporary, the pack-in/pack-out 

times that are required and the general plan are much more liberal than 

they were ever allowed for by the Environment Court for the cricket 

situation. 15 

 

 Every time you put a fence around and do not allow public access and 

it is meant to be free and open access in this park for all citizens, you 

are temporarily – and repetitively temporarily – denying them the use 

of their park, and this tends to be for private gain. 20 

 

 We talk about the “commons area”, taking over the commons area for 

private gain.  We do not see that as right and proper in our central city 

park. 

 25 

MS DINGWALL:   Could I just add here, that Chris is talking about temporary 

activity, commercial activities. 

 

HLC:   Your microphone, you best not catching - - - 

 30 

MS DINGWALL:   Sorry – but temporary commercial activities do pack up 

and the park’s returned, well there might be damaged and some 

environmental effects, but there is also permanent commercial activity, 

and in section 54 in the Reserves Act which deals with leases, when 

someone wants to lease an area of Hagley Park from the Council, there 35 

are different categories of leases that the Council can grant and there is 

one specific category, I have just forgotten the subsection number, 

which does allow the carrying out of a business trade or occupation, but 

it is conditional. 

 40 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   It is ancillary to. 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Mm? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   It is ancillary to the other use. 45 
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HLC:   Yes. 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Yes, and it’s subject to section 17 of the Reserves Act, 5 

including section 17(ii)(c), and also it is only possible under Reserves 

Act, where the business trader occupation is necessary, I think the 

wording is “for the enjoyment of the park”. 

 

HLC:   “Necessary to enable the public to obtain the benefit and enjoyment”, 10 

that is what you are thinking of? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Yes, and I know that that was what was relied on to allow 

the Gondola business to have it up on the hills, because it was decided 

it gave people a greater appreciation of that reserve.  15 

 

MR NEILL:   So events such as recently, this last weekend, the Noodle 

Festival; that has your support, that type of function? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Yes, but as I said at the temporary activities definition 20 

mediation the other day, certainly.  I mean we have no issue per se with 

temporary activities, and of course the Management Plan does provide 

for them in a specific area of the park so that they are not displacing 

activities all over the park.   

 25 

 But happy to have them, but sort of the analogy of a house where you 

have a room in your house where you have parties, which is perfectly 

appropriate, and you have a different party say every night, a different 

theme, different guests, but that is fine, provided they don’t wreck the 

furniture. 30 

 

 And that is when we say “within the environmental capacity of the 

park” the sort of limits to what that park can tolerate, and we have 

shown for the temporary activities definition with parking in the park 

the adverse effects on the turf, and also the damage when you have cars 35 

continually parking within the drip lines of trees, setting up temporary 

fences, damaging tree branches, compaction of the soil around the trees 

and potential damage to the bark of the trees with vehicles parking.   

 

 There is a drip line definition, and we have suggested that – I mean we 40 

certainly do not support public parking on a temporary basis in the 

park, but of course it is necessary from time to time for vendors 

associated with temporary activities to bring their vehicles in, but at 

least can they have the vehicles and their trucks and paraphernalia 

away from the driplines of the trees. 45 

 



 Page 348 

  

Ch18: Open Space Commenced 17.02.16 

MR NEILL:   Yes, all right.  Thank you for your submission.  Thank you, sir. 

 

HLC:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you for coming along today. 5 

 

 I am just interested, I have a document here signed, or prepared by Mr 

Meehan, 2302, submission which contains the various submissions 

split up. 

 10 

 The first submission on the second page refers to in the first paragraph, 

“that there is not a high level of public confidence, that the right plans 

have been devised and implemented with regard to traffic and parking” 

– what is that statement based on, is that anything you can provide to 

us? 15 

 

MS DINGWALL:   That was your statement.  

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   You want me to take that, okay. I have been 

passed to me, as is my statement.   20 

 

 I have given talks, because I get asked to give addresses to various 

bodies like Lions Clubs and Rotary and things like that, and I have 

given talks related to Hagley Park and to traffic and management 

matters, and invariably I had feedback from those that they are people 25 

who have attended those and they are thinking people, they have been 

concerned that the processes that are going in they did not know about 

in the first instance when they - - - 

 

MS HURIA:   Actually, sir, I am not so much concerned about the actual 30 

feedback, as if there is any data or research? 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   No, I have not gone out and done a survey.   

 

MS HURIA:   Informal feedback? 35 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Some formal feedback, yes. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Okay, the other point I just was interested to check, 

that with regard to the blocking of critical access to the hospital, 40 

because I have noted your point about the environment Court around 

the oval, but CDHB have not submitted to us on that point in this 

hearing.   

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   No, they were not going to submit to the 45 

Environment Court either, in the end they suddenly did it at the last 
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moment, because they realised what was going on.  I am not sure why 

they have not submitted on this issue. 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 5 

 They are getting some more parking space built for them due to be on 

stream within two years or something like that, but even that will not 

necessarily resolve all the problems because there is competition for 

that same area of the city for parking. 

 10 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, thank you, sir. 

 

HLC:   Thank you.  Just a couple of matters; first as far as the management 

plan is concerned, you would like to see it effectively entrenched into 

the District Plan in some way or other? 15 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   To what extent would you like that to happen?  I presume you are not 

saying every last detail ought to go in?  Where do you draw the line? 20 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   You can say that one then, because I will come 

back on another matter. 

 

MS DINGWALL:   I could say certainly one of the most important ones is 25 

section 17 or, sorry, objective 21 which restricts parking for the 

permanent car parks and another one I think is objective 17, buildings 

and structures, and there are pages and pages of excellent matters for 

consideration if new or even extensions to existing buildings and 

structures, the matters that need to be considered. 30 

 

HLC:   Yes, okay, that is helpful, thank you. 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Could I have that question again? 

 35 

HLC:   Yes, I was raising the suggestion that the management plan ought to be 

effectively entrenched into the District Plan in some form and my 

inquiry was to what extent and to what detail would you expect it to be 

entrenched? – do you follow what I am asking? 

 40 

MS DINGWALL:   Yes, I do. 

 

HLC:   Or, put another way, to what extent should the District Plan duplicate 

what is in the management plan? 

 45 
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MS DINGWALL:   Well we have a situation at the moment where the 

proposed District Plan rules and built form standards as they would 

apply to Hagley Park, there is a yawning gap between the objectives 

and the policies as they have been now amended and as we have asked 

for further amendments, and those rules and matters of discretion in 5 

built form standards.  It feels to Hands off Hagley that the Hagley Park 

Management Plan sits somewhere between what we have got at the 

moment.   

 

 So no, we are not looking to have the whole Hagley Park management 10 

plan replicated into the District Plan but we are looking to have the 

standards, provisions currently modified for Hagley Park.  Now 

whether that is to take everything specific to Hagley Park out into a 

separate zone or a subsection of the community parks zone, we defer to 

the Panel really, for the best method to achieve that. 15 

 

HLC:   Now the second question is that in response to Mr Neill I think it was 

you said, well we are seeking both a stand-alone zone and a heritage 

listing.  If you had a stand-alone belt and braces zone comprehensive 

within itself, what would the heritage listing add? 20 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Bear in mind that none of us are either legal or planning 

professionals - - - 

 

HLC:   No, no, I am not looking for an expert – I am just wanting your 25 

instinctive answer to that; just your hunch as to what you would like to 

be added by the heritage listing, just as you see it? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   The heritage matters of discretion seem to add a robustness 

that therefore would if Hagley Park ended up in chapter 9 that those 30 

matters would also need to be referred to for any new development. 

 

HLC:   Right. 

 

MS DINGWALL:   I think of the Crown’s evidence of Anna Cameron relating 35 

to the what has become 9.1 I believe, the significant ecological sites. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 

 And the way that we see that what has been done in that respect for 40 

those areas in the plan is a parallel with Hagley and it feels like that is 

the same sort of thing that we would want to see happening, and 

whether you call it a zone or whether you call it a listing or whether 

you call it a heritage area, we are not sure about that absolutely but we 

just know that we need the strongest possible belt and braces approach. 45 
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HLC:   Sure. 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Could I add to that? 

 

HLC:   Sure. 5 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Christchurch is very proud of being a Garden City.  

Hagley Park is part of the Garden City heritage.  If you give it that 

status in a plan people will be more confident that it is going to be 

protected, that is my bottom line on that one.  10 

 

HLC:   Yes, thank you.  This issue of parking has already been traversed and I 

don’t want to linger on it, but am I wrong in having the impression that 

it is the parking that is the issue rather than the past events that have 

been held on Hagley Park, the temporary events? 15 

 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Parking has been an issue for a long time.  It has 

been exacerbated in more recent times by the intensity of some uses in 

Hagley Park.  I am also the deputy chair of the Christchurch Civic 

Trust and in that capacity I made a representation several years ago 20 

with photographic evidence to the City Council outlining the concerns 

about one part of the Council promoting events flat out and a very 

small part of the Council in a different silo had Parks and Reserves as 

their portfolio and they weren’t getting much say on mediating what 

was happening. 25 

 

 From that there was a promise that a comprehensive parking report 

would be produced.  Two and a half years later we are still waiting for 

it.  It is a long, long term issue that has been going on.  We have a 

chance I believe in this plan process to actually fix it. 30 

 

HLC:   Now, I don’t know whether you can answer this question, the Hands on 

Hagley information referred to the bylaws and effectively I think said 

to the extent that the Council was saying that the bylaws ought to 

control the temporary parking on the Park, it was wrong and it was 35 

probably unlawful.  Is anyone able to speak to that, I just want to come 

to grips with exactly why you say the bylaw might not have been 

capable of handling the situation? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Well, we were told at various encounters with the Council 40 

planners in mediation that the bylaw would be relied on by the Council 

and at I think a meeting with Mr Matheson, Alan Matheson, a 

mediation session, I said “Okay, now which bylaw?”  And we agreed 

the traffic and parking bylaw and I said “Now, let’s look at the wording 

of that bylaw”, at the beginning of it, it allows the Council to set aside 45 
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areas under its control, under the Council’s control, for restricted 

parking but there are three key words “by Council resolution”. 

 

HLC:   Oh, I see.  But to the extent that the Park is under the Council’s control, 

you weren’t debating that aspect? 5 

 

MS DINGWALL:   But it is by Council resolution. 

 

HLC:   By Council resolution I understand, yes. 

 10 

MS DINGWALL:   And that is a bylaw made under the Local Government Act 

so the Council resolution would have to be under the Local 

Government Act and take into account all the matters and sort of 

statutory responsibilities that the Council has in managing the Park. 

 15 

  [3.10 pm] 

 

HLC:   Okay, thank you, just one final aspect from me and Mr Daysh has 

something he wants to ask as well.   

 20 

 To the extent that you are concerned about commercial activity and you 

have mentioned some activities which you feel are breaking the rules in 

what they are doing, if you look, for example, at the golf club and its 

coffee shop or whatever it might be called and that is one that springs 

to mind, is there an inherent opposition to that sort of activity on 25 

Hagley Park or is it something wider that you are worried about? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Well, the problem with that situation is it has been 

untested.  The café simply happened as a result of the earthquake 

refurbishment of the building and now a café is established there and 30 

we have been unable to find from the Council any evidence of an 

application for resource consent or a lease application, both of which 

would involve consultation. 

 

HLC:   I see, thank you.  Now, Mr Daysh? 35 

 

MR DAYSH:  Yes, really just listening to the discussion I do have one last 

question for the members of Hands off Hagley. 

 

 I am really referring to the rebuttal evidence lodged by Ms Carter 40 

where she suggested some additional changes to policies and objectives 

and also, from my reading anyway, quite a comprehensive range of 

additional activity standards and built form standards to be added to the 

Plan provisions included one of the things you have been asking for or 

talking about.   45 
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 Your statement to us that we have just received this morning says that 

you do not think those rules are appropriate, you do not support those.   

 

 Is your view then that that is progress; that if the Panel found that, for 

example, some further discussion would be beneficial after hearing 5 

from the Council’s planning witness, do you think that would be 

helpful, are you exhausted in terms of – or is the process exhausted 

from your point of view or is there ability to have some more 

discussions? 

 10 

PROFESSOR KISSLING:   Those of us from the country can carry on.  I have 

to leave but Anne - - - 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Certainly Hands off Hagley believes there is a lot more 

work to be done.  This is a moving feast and as we are seeing more and 15 

more happening in the red line it raises more issues. 

 

 It is not per se that we are unhappy with all the rules, that there is 

opportunity, for instance, in the built form standards, there is more we 

want to say and the matters of discretion.  We just feel that they are not 20 

being applied widely enough to some of those restricted discretionary 

and discretionary activities so there is a lot of administrative 

housekeeping type things that we would like to see discussed. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So, in summary, you think progress been made and being 25 

made? 

 

MS DINGWALL:   Undoubtedly, progress has been made and - - - 

 

MR DAYSH:   That is a fair position? 30 

 

MS DINGWALL:   And we feel that with time more can be made. 

 

 Also, there are certain permitted activities that just have built form 

standard considerations for height and setback and 500 square metres 35 

footprint but that is all.  They are just permitted.  There is no regard for 

their location in the park so you could have a new building up to 

500 square metres located in the woodlands along Deans Avenue. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you.  That is helpful. 40 

 

<PROFESSOR KISSLING WITHDREW [3.14 pm] 

 

HLC:   Thank you, Mr Daysh. 

 45 
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 Well, thank you to all of you for your contribution and the thought you 

have obviously given to this subject and the energy you have devoted 

to it and we will, of course, take all the matters that you have 

mentioned into account as well as the written material.  Thank you very 

much. 5 

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Just one thing and of course there is no cross-examination but 

the latest document that has been tabled with you which came in last 10 

night and you might have received it this morning. 

 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   It has got different drafting in relation to objectives and policies 15 

and was in this submission and/or in the submitters statement last week, 

it would probably be helpful to the council and in particular, some 

fairness to Ms Carter, just to get clarified as to whether this is the final 

version - - - 

 20 

HLC:   Are you are probably saying the preferred version are you? 

 

MR LAING:   - - - preferred version, or whatever – so that might help but it is 

obviously entirely up to Hands off Hagley as to what position they wish 

to take but it would be certainly helpful to the council, if nobody else, 25 

to have that clarified. 

 

HLC:   Yes, that is a very sensible point, Mr Laing, now who would like to 

answer that, Mr Meehan? 

 30 

MS MARTIN:   Well I think I probably can answer it at this stage. 

 

HLC:   Okay, thank you. 

 

MS MARTIN:   The answer to that would be yes, that we feel that with these 35 

changes we would be very satisfied with the objectives and policies. 

 

HLC:   Yes, so this is your ultimate? 

 

MS MARTIN:   Yes. 40 

 

HLC:   Yes, okay.  Does that clarify the matter for you and Ms Carter? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, that is certainly very helpful. 

 45 
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HLC:   Okay, well thank you very much.  Now we have reached the point of 

Ms Carter’s evidence.  We will take a five minute adjournment. 

 

MR LAING:   That would be helpful. 

 5 

HLC:   Then we will proceed to Ms Carter’s evidence, Mr Laing. 

 

ADJOURNED [3.17 pm] 

 

RESUMED [3.33 pm] 10 

 

MR LAING:   If the Panel pleases, before Ms Carter is sworn, I just thought I 

had better deal with some housekeeping around cross-examination 

requests of Ms Carter. 

 15 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   The Canterbury Sports Limited defer to Monday and that is why 

Ms Robinson is not here today - - - 

 20 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   - - - so I just want to make sure we are at one of that. 

 

HLC:   Sure. 25 

 

MR LAING:   Reserved her (INDISTINCT 0.40) - - - 

 

HLC:   And I want to talk to that briefly, once you have finished too. 

 30 

MR LAING:   Yes, and of course Transpower is no longer in the loop, we have 

reached agreement with them and their cross-examination application is 

withdrawn as far as I am aware in terms of that memo. 

 

HLC:   Yes, it has been. 35 

 

MR LAING:   Yes, so that narrows it down and of course, the Crown is also 

now no longer cross-examining. 

 

HLC:   Mr Laing, as far as the hot-tubbing matter is concerned, I understand 40 

that there are some aspects that you would like to discuss, you have 

seen the minute, haven’t you? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 

45 
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  [3.35 pm] 

 

HLC:   And that you might have slightly different ideas as to how we go about 

the matter.  What I suggest we do is to have a conference because it is 

something that obviously has to involve Council representing the other 5 

parties and so perhaps we will just leave it for a telephone conference 

to be arranged – are you tied up in the hearings tomorrow? 

 

MR LAING:   I am involved in the drafting session on residential new 

neighbourhoods, so I am here tomorrow and obviously Friday as well. 10 

 

HLC:   Well, I wonder, perhaps, if we had a telephone conference shortly 

before we commence on Friday, how would that suit? 

 

MR LAING:   Yes. 15 

 

HLC:   And provided it suits the other two lawyers.  Can we arrange that?  

What time are we commencing on Friday?  10 o’clock, so, say 9.45? 

 

MR LAING:   Or we could just deal with it here.  I am sure the other people 20 

would - - - 

 

HLC:   If they were happy to come along.  That would be a good idea because I 

think the Panel is reasonably relaxed as to how we go about it so long 

as we get the best results and the feeling was that we are better to let 25 

things evolve as they were and then bring the hot-tubbing in as the final 

realm but  - - - 

 

MR LAING:   I have spoken briefly to both of the counsel today at lunchtime 

but I had not seen your minute at that stage so I will talk to them again 30 

so we may even meet an agreement as to - - -  

 

HLC:   If counsel are all agreed they do not need to appear and you can just tell 

the Panel what you have got in mind if it differs from what we have 

already got in mind. 35 

 

MR LAING:   Well, can we leave it on the basis to you that if we can file a 

memorandum tomorrow we will do but if there are any outstanding 

matters, 9.45 on Friday if they are available or some other time that day 

should it suit them. 40 

 

HLC:   That would be helpful, thanks very much. 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you. 

45 
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<JANICE CARTER, sworn [3.36 pm] 
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HLC:   Now, Ms Carter, sorry to conduct all those discussions with you sitting 

there waiting to get underway. 

 

MS CARTER:  You are welcome. 

 5 

<EXAMINATION BY MR LAING [3.37pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Your full name is Janice Carter? 

 

MS CARTER:   It is. 10 

 

MR LAING:   You hold the position of Principal Planner at GHD. 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 

 15 

MR LAING:   Yes, and you have the qualifications and experience as outlined 

in evidence-in-chief? 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 

 20 

MR LAING:   You, in fact, prepared three statements of evidence: evidence-in-

chief, rebuttal evidence and a supplementary statement? 

 

MS CARTER:   I have. 

 25 

MR LAING:   Now, do you have any corrections or alterations to any of those 

statements? 

 

MS CARTER:    At page 6 of my evidence-in-chief I make reference to 

Naval Point Yacht Club and they have called me to indicate that I 30 

should correct that which I am happy to do and it should be Naval Point 

Club.  I do not make that error anywhere else in my evidence but if I 

have missed one, then a similar correction should be made.  As far as I 

am aware it is only at page 6. 

 35 

MR LAING:   Paragraph? 

 

MR NEILL:   4.1. 

 

MS CARTER:   You got it?  Yes, thank you. 40 

 

 At page 76 of my evidence-in-chief, paragraph 19.4, after the word 

“additional” insert “submissions on” so that the 9.4 clause reads “there 

are no additional submissions on definitions relevant to the open 

space”.  That is my corrections. 45 
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  [3.40 pm] 

 

MR LAING:   Is there anything else that? 

 

MS CARTER:   No more corrections of substance. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you.  So subject to those corrections do you now confirm 

that your three statements of evidence are true and correct? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, they are. 10 

 

MR LAING:   Now, could I ask you to proceed to your highlights package 

please. 

 

MS CARTER:   I will, thank you.  Good afternoon, as already stated my name 15 

is Janice Carter and I am a principal planner at GHD.  I have outlined 

my qualifications and experience in my evidence-in-chief and this is 

the seventh proposal that I have presented evidence on before the 

Hearings Panel in respect to the replacement District Plan. 

 20 

 Before summarising my evidence I would like to first outline the vision 

for the Open Space proposal. 

 

 The open space chapter aims to bring together a suite of land use 

provisions that will provide a network of open spaces and recreational 25 

facilities to meet the current and future recreational, cultural, heritage, 

health and wellbeing needs of the Christchurch community, and 

facilitate the Council in carrying out its functions under the RMA 

including the protection of indigenous biodiversity and ecosystems. 

 30 

 This includes ensuring that the Council’s statutory responsibilities and 

higher level policy directions are reflected in the objectives, policies, 

zoning and rules.  In my view, open spaces and recreation areas within 

the district form an important part of the infrastructure relied on to 

service the needs of communities identified in the Canterbury Regional 35 

Policy Statement, and continuation of provision and reinstatement of 

open spaces as a key earthquake recovery issue for the city. 

 

 The proposal seeks to accommodate the range of roles of open spaces 

and recreation facilities that existed prior to the Canterbury earthquakes 40 

while ensuring their character, quality and amenity is maintained and 

enhanced.  The vision includes keeping areas of open space as open 

space which might mean protecting open space from being cluttered 

with activities that do not have a need to be there.  But also recognising 

that in the post and not so post-earthquake environment multi-uses and 45 
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colocation is an efficient practical consideration that must be provided 

for in appropriate circumstances.   

 

 I will now move on to the highlights from my evidence.  One of the 

main components of the Open Space proposal is the synthesis of 5 

23 mainly open space and conservation zones currently in the operative 

City Plan and the operative Banks Peninsula Plan to create five open 

space zones with six of the others migrating to other proposals.  These 

are outlined in pages 6 and 7 of my evidence-in-chief.  I also 

acknowledge that in bringing these zones together that there is 10 

considerable detail in this proposal.   

 

 I now turn to the key issues raised by submitters.  In terms of the 

Crown, clarity and consistency issues have been resolved with the 

Crown.  These issues are included in a further revised proposal and a 15 

joint memorandum.  Of particular note is further refinement of the 

provisions for activities within existing heritage buildings and parks as 

the Crown was concerned about duplication of provisions but also it 

had concerns about the merit of providing additional permitted 

activities in heritage buildings within open space areas.   20 

 

 The matters restricting discretion for restricted discretionary activities 

have also been streamlined further and agreement reached on the 

location within the provisions of the standard limiting gross floor area 

of buildings in the open space water and margins zone.  These are the 25 

main changes that we have come to agreement on in the last few days.   

 

 Elmwood Club: the club in its submission sought the rezoning of the 

site to open space metropolitan facilities to enable a more intensive use 

of the site.  Agreement has been reached with the Elmwood Club that 30 

the resource consent process is the appropriate mechanism to consider 

their rebuild and development proposal for the site that they have a 

licence to occupy.  And the submitter is not seeking provisions 

enabling permitted activity status however the revised provisions put 

forward in my rebuttal evidence promoting a restricted discretionary 35 

activity consent, if the proposal is developed as currently proposed, 

being in conjunction with the adjoining Heaton Intermediate School 

and has a site of not less than 6,000 square metres.  That proposal does 

not yet have full agreement of the submitter. 

 40 

 The outstanding issues related primarily to whether failure to meet 

those requirements should trigger assessment of the proposal as a fully 

discretionary activity as provided for in the revised proposal. 
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  [3.45 pm] 

 

 Transpower:  The Council and Transpower have reached agreement on 

the issues raised in submissions.  At paragraph 6.10 of my rebuttal 

evidence I indicated that further discussions may resolve the remaining 5 

issues, and in the last few days those agreements and a memorandum 

have been filed with the Panel. 

 

 The agreement adds a new policy 7 to the Open Space proposal, 

specifically to recognise that electricity transmission and distribution 10 

infrastructure may have locational, operational and functional need to 

locate within new and existing open space.  But it does not go as far as 

to suggest that the purpose of open space is to protect the National Grid 

as originally proposed by Transpower. 

 15 

 Hands off Hagley: I will take you through what I have already prepared 

in terms of the highlights, but I have also got some issues that 

developed through the hearing today, and I am happy to go through 

some of the proposals that have been presented today, though I have 

not read the whole thing.  So I have got some preliminary comments, 20 

but I would like to have time to look at it a bit further. 

 

 While I acknowledge the considerable value of Hagley Pak to the 

district I have not recommended that a new zone be provided 

specifically for Hagley Park as requested by Hands off Hagley.  I have, 25 

however, provided a number of amendments to address the concerns of 

the submitter.   

 

 The most recent changes proposed following our meeting on 1 

February are included in my rebuttal evidence, where I have introduced 30 

some additional matters of discretion specifically for Hagley Park.  I 

also agreed to review the impervious surface rule which Hands off 

Hagley considered to be overly generous for a park the size of Hagley 

Park. 

 35 

 We also undertook to find some information from the GIS as to how 

much of Hagley Park was covered in impervious surfaces already, as 

part of the discussions that we had with Hands off Hagley on 1 

February.  GIS provided information that suggests that the current 

impervious surfaces at Hagley Park, excluding the Botanical Gardens, 40 

are at 6.59 percent, with artificial playing surfaces, walking and cycle 

paths are included.   

 

 So in my view the proposed 10 percent impervious surface rule is 

appropriate, but only if the calculation includes all the impervious 45 

surfaces, except buildings.  This has necessitated an exception to the 
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rule for Hagley Park, all walkways, tracks, cycle ways and artificial 

playing surfaces are included in the impervious surface calculation.  

And that is not the case for other parks within this zone.  I have 

included this change in the Revised Proposal filed yesterday.   

 5 

 Canterbury Sports Limited – shall I leave that, or do you want me to? 

 

HLC:   No, I think it is best to defer that until Monday. 

 

MS CARTER:   That is fine. 10 

 

HLC:   Thank you. 

 

MS CARTER:   Isaac Conservation and Wildlife Trust: as a result of 

discussions in mediation there is now very little disagreement between 15 

the Council and the Isaac Conservation and Wildlife Trust. 

 

 The main issue remaining is the appropriate distance that a restricted 

discretionary consent will be required for fireworks where they are in 

proximity to Peacock Springs Conservation Area, as part of a major 20 

sports facility activity.   

 

 The main impact in respect of this rule is the startle effect on birds.  I 

have taken advice from the Council’s acoustic expert, Mr Stuart Camp, 

and I consider that two kilometre distance is more appropriate than the 25 

more onerous five kilometres proposed by the Trust. 

 

 The proposed rule is provided in the latest revised proposal filed 

yesterday.  This revision also includes the provisions I agreed to at 

paragraph 5.3 of my rebuttal evidence, but inadvertently left off the 30 

revised proposal. 

 

 That is my highlights package. 

 

MR LAING:   Ms Carter, I wanted to ask you to deal with the evidence of 35 

Mr Crystal.  You were here this morning, were you not? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:   And you heard the exchange in questions to me when I was 40 

making my opening legal submissions.  Could you just explain further 

for the Panel what the Council’s position is there? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, overall the Council’s position is that there is too much 

uncertainty in what has been proposed to date to enable a deferred 45 

zoning. 
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 The Council also has not typically used deferred zonings in the plan, as 

notified, and I understand that the Panel has also made a decision 

recently in the commercial and industrial zone not in favour of deferred 

zoning as well.  And the Council accepts that decision from the Panel. 5 

 

MR LAING:   Thank you, would you now answer any questions please. 

 

HLC:   Ms Limmer. 

 10 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [3.50 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Ms Carter, I am going to ask 

you some questions in relation to the Fulton Hogan submission first, 

and then some questions in relation to the Trust’s submission. 15 

 

 So in respect of the Fulton Hogan submission, you have said you 

independently agree with Ms Radburnd’s conclusions in her evidence 

and in forming your own opinion, I assume you have read all the 

evidence from chapter 17 hearing and the 21 odd statements from 20 

Fulton Hogan? 

 

MS CARTER:   I was present during the hearing so I have heard a lot of it but I 

could not say that I have read every single brief-of-evidence, but 

particularly the planning evidence I have read, and I was also here for 25 

the golf expert as well. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So you would accept that an opinion on the merit of the 

rezoning requires careful consideration of the costs and benefits of that 

rezoning, and those costs and benefits are contained in expert evidence 30 

aside from planning evidence, are they not? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, and as I said there are very few briefs that I have not 

heard, so most of them I was actually here for, in fact, through the 

hearing. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   But they were only highlights packages, did you read he 

evidence behind the highlights packages? 

 

MS CARTER:   The planning evidence I did and evidence of the groundwater 40 

expert, and I think those are ones I have read. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So limited to those briefs? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, it was. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   Now, in Ms Radburnd’s evidence you would agree that her 

reasons for refusing or rejecting Fulton Hogan’s request, do not extend 

to any adverse effects that might arise from rezoning the existing 

quarry to open space; there are effects based reasons put forward by 

Ms Radburnd, in respect of that part of the proposal? 5 

 

MS CARTER:   She does discuss effects and that was her view from reading 

her evidence that she thought that there was not enough information on 

the adverse effects for her to make an informed opinion. 

 10 

MS LIMMER:   Ms Carter, you would agree that her evidence was about the 

adverse effects of rezoning the golf course to quarry as opposed to the 

quarry to golf course.  You would agree with that, wouldn’t you? 

 

MS CARTER:   I am just trying to recall her evidence. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   It might help perhaps if we can pull up paragraph 11.20 of 

Ms Radburnd’s evidence-in-chief for chapter 17.   

 

 And in that paragraph she summarises her reasons as three things, one 20 

that rezoning is not appropriate full stop.  Secondly, that in sub 

paragraph E(i) and (ii) that there is uncertainty about whether in this 

case, the deferred zoning would ever be lifted, and in subparagraph C, 

she talks about the potential effects from the rezoning to quarry from 

golf course? 25 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I can see that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And your evidence does not raise any effects based concerns 

with rezoning the quarry to golf course, does it, the quarry that has 30 

been operational for about 60 years now? 

 

MS CARTER:   So your question is about effects being raised between 

changing the quarry to a golf course, the reason why the effects are not 

considered is because it is a permitted activity within the quarry zone.  35 

So that would be perfect right to not look into the effects of that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well, my question is, you have no effects based concerns for 

rezoning of the quarry site to open space? 

 40 

MS CARTER:   No. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Now I questioned Ms Radburnd during the Rural hearing on 

the effects of the golf course going to quarry, so I won’t - - - 

 45 
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MS CARTER:   Just qualifying what I said before, in terms of the zoning and 

effects; well it would depend on the zoning also included, so I am 

assuming that the permitted activity golf course has a range of activities 

that are part of that, if the zoning proposed other activities and facilities 

wherein the facts-based assessment has not been made, well, then that 5 

would be a different issue and my answer would be different. 

 

  [3.55 pm] 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well, Ms Carter, those provisions have been circulated since 10 

the chapter 17 hearings in evidence in October last year and you do not 

raise any issues with that in your evidence, do you?  There is no 

discussion of any particular effects in your evidence or any other 

Council evidence, is there? 

 15 

MS CARTER:  No, there is not. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Now, I want to turn to the issue that Ms Radburn has raised 

about deferred zoning. 

 20 

 Now, you would agree that a deferred zone is a zone in which the 

activities that would usually be allowed are prevented, until something 

or things happen? 

 

MS CARTER:   That is right. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   And an example of that would be a residential zone where 

houses cannot be built until something else has occurred? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   Would you accept that zones of this nature, whether they be of 

the label “deferred” or not, do appear in District Plans throughout the 

country. 

 35 

MS CARTER:  I have seen provisions in other Plans, yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you would accept that those zones have various types of 

triggers, as they are usually called, for lifting the deferral or bringing to 

life the activities that are permitted. 40 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you would accept that in fact in this replacement Plan 

there are zones like that albeit they are not called “deferred zones”? 45 
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MS CARTER:   I do not recall any. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Are you familiar with the residential and new neighbourhood 

zone in Awatea? 

 5 

MS CARTER:   No, not particularly familiar. 

 

MS LIMMER:   But if I told you that in that zone residential development is 

precluded until the kart club moves, you would you agree that is, by its 

nature, a deferred zone? 10 

 

MS CARTER:   No, I do not.  If it is zoned residential but there is rule 

requiring it to have something happen before an activity such as 

residential could locate there that is not quite the same so as deferred 

zoning. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   So, the scenario is there is a residential zone and there is a 

non-complying status for residential use for as long as the kart club is 

on its present location.  You do not think that is a deferred zone in 

substance? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   In substance, it is not a deferred zoning, that is what you asked 

me but it would have a similar effect to a deferred zoning. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, now if in that scenario still the evidence before the 25 

Panel in other hearings or this hearing is to the effect that whether or 

not the kart club remains there is entirely dependent on its surrendering 

a lease that runs till 2054.  You would agree that whether or not that 

will ever happen is unknown, would you not? 

 30 

MS CARTER:   I am really not familiar with the negotiations with the kart club 

but I take your word for it. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Well, I am not asking you to second guess what those might 

be.  The rule in the Plan does not give us any certainty as whether or 35 

not that situation will ever come about, does it? 

 

MS CARTER:   But as I said, it is not a deferred zoning.  It is the condition for 

one set of activities in that zone.  It is still residential, it is not a 

deferred zoning. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:  But you have agreed that in substance it achieves the same 

outcome whatever the label? 
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MS CARTER:   For that particular kart club facility but there must be other 

things that can happen in that residential zone that are not subject to 

your deferral that you are talking about. 

 

MS LIMMER:   What do you think is the main purpose of a residential zone?  5 

What is the core activity it is there to promote? 

 

MS CARTER:   It is residential, but there may be other activities within it. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and a zone that at its heart has residential development 10 

that cannot occur, is effectively deferring? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I agree.  In substance, it is. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So, if we accept then that the Awatea zone is in the Plan and is 15 

an example of something that may or may not come about, it would 

share similar characteristics to the Fulton Hogan proposal, would it 

not? 

 

MS CARTER:   I do not know enough about the Awatea to really comment on 20 

that but the main thing is that there are so many other things that, in the 

Fulton Hogan proposal, that rely on other things and uncertainties 

happening – the land swap, the reserve uplifting; there are various other 

things that have to take place 

 25 

  [4.00 pm] 

 

 Whereas what you are talking about in Awatea, and which I do not 

know a lot about, but in Awatea the kart club have been wanting to 

relocate for some time so we are talking about a specific relocation of a 30 

specific facility out of that area and its development into houses.  So 

that is more certain than what you are proposing where the Reserves 

Act process has not yet begun and it is not certain whether it would 

ever be processed and continued and confirmed. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   So what evidence are you relying on to say that it is more 

certain that the kart club will surrender its lease?  What evidence is 

there before this Panel on that, or in any part of this Plan? 

 

MS CARTER:   As I said, I do not know a lot about the Awatea rezoning. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, well if the Panel were to conclude that that is something 

that may or may not happen, and the triggers for the Fulton Hogan 

proposal may or may not happen, they would share those 

characteristics would they not? 45 
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MS CARTER:   Well I do not think they are as comparable as you are leading 

me to believe they are.  I do think that there is more uncertainty in the 

Fulton Hogan proposal because it relies on another process outside the 

Plan and a land swap.  So I would say that yes there are similarities, but 

not exactly the same as the kart club. 5 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you not think surrendering a lease is another process 

outside the Plan process? 

 

MS CARTER:   Surrendering a lease is, from the negotiations I have heard of 10 

in terms of the kart club it is more imminent than that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And where is the evidence on that?  That is what I asked you 

before. 

 15 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I do not have evidence on that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You would agree that one difference between the Fulton 

Hogan proposal and the Awatea example is that the Fulton Hogan 

proposal has an end date, does it not? It says if these things are not 20 

done by 2021 the zone falls away, you are familiar with that? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I am. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And if I told you the Awatea zone does not have a date, you 25 

would accept that as a difference between the two proposals? 

 

MS CARTER:   It is a difference between the two proposals. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And would you accept that having an end date like that 30 

provides some degree, or a greater degree of certainty, than not having 

one? 

 

MS CARTER:   It provides certainty – I presume what happens when the date 

comes along for the Fulton Hogan proposal, that it reverts back to rural 35 

quarry, is that the case? 

 

MS LIMMER:   That is quite right, well the rules of the quarry zone, you have 

read the Plan and you have done this too, so the rules of the quarry 

zone apply at least until those triggers are satisfied and if they are not 40 

satisfied by 2021 the rules continue to apply. 

 

MS CARTER:   So it is the status quo that applies, not the new zoning? 

 

MS LIMMER:   At 2021, indeed. 45 
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MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So my question was, you would agree that by having an end 

date there is a degree of certainty in the Fulton Hogan proposal that 

does not exist with for example the Awatea proposal that does not have 5 

an end date? 

 

MS CARTER:   Except that at 2021 that is the time that you have to achieve 

the land swap and those sorts of things to happen, and when they do not 

happen it actually defers back to rural quarry.  It does not stay as the 10 

deferred zoning, so the trigger is not to confirm it, it is actually to revert 

it back.  Is that my understanding? 

 

MS LIMMER:  Well you have read the rules – that is certainly not my 

interpretation of how they work.  The rules that allow a golf course 15 

simply do not come into effect, the quarry zone rules continue to apply 

- - -  

 

MS CARTER:   Which allows the golf course - - -  

 20 

MS LIMMER:   - - - if those triggers are not lifted.  And I am simply asking 

you, the question is quite simple, this is at least a 10 year plan and 

halfway through those 10 years there will be absolute certainty on the 

fate of the quarry site.  It will either be a golf course or it will remain a 

quarry, in zoning. 25 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I understand that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Whereas with the Awatea example I gave you before there is 

no date so whether or not the residential development will ever happen 30 

will remain unknown for the life of the Plan; there is no finite term, you 

would agree that provides some certainty?   

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, it is all dependent on the lease being surrendered. 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   But you would agree the end date quality of the Fulton Hogan 

proposal provides more certainty than a proposal that does not? 

 

  [4.05 pm] 

 40 

MS CARTER:   I do not agree with that because the lease has to be surrendered 

so it is one thing – you ask me to make a general statement about what 

is more suited, whether the lease would be surrendered or whether all 

the things that Fulton Hogan want to do and achieve, will be achieved 

by 2021, otherwise it reverts back. 45 
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MS LIMMER:   That was actually not my question; it is very simple 

Ms Carter, and if you do not agree then just say so. 

 

 Would you agree the Fulton Hogan proposal has an element of 

certainty with an end date, that the Awatea one does not? 5 

 

MS CARTER:   In terms of an end date it has more certainty, but that does not 

mean to say the proposal is more certain than Awatea. 

 

MS LIMMER:   I think that will be as far as I will take that one, sir. 10 

 

HLC:   It becomes a matter of submission after that, Ms Limmer. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, quite.  I have no further questions for Fulton Hogan, so if 

I can move on to the Trust. 15 

 

 Ms Carter I just want to clarify an issue and I have looked through the 

revised proposal that was circulated last night or this morning, and just 

one matter I am unclear on is the definition of “recreation activity” in 

the revised proposal and your evidence on that definition in your 20 

evidence-in-chief. 

 

 Now as I understand your evidence, you have recommended a change 

that would exclude motorbike sports from the definition of recreation 

activity, but I cannot see that in the red line version, so I am just not 25 

sure whether that is an oversight? 

 

MS CARTER:   It is an oversight. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So that should be in the evidence the Panel has before them as 30 

well. 

 

 I would like you to look, if you can, at that definition, Major Sports 

Facility in the latest version or the same, and that commences with the 

words “has the same meaning as minor sports facility except that there 35 

are a few things additional.” 

 

 And my question really is; as a reader of the notified version of this 

Proposal, do you accept it is unclear as to where that border is between 

a minor sports facility and a major sports facility? 40 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS LIMMER:   It would not be easy for a person reading submissions about a 

major sports facility to figure out exactly where the impacts of that 45 

might start or stop, would it? 
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MS CARTER:   Yes, I agree. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And turning now to the issue of the fireworks setback, 

Ms Carter, I take it you are familiar with the chapter 17 – I am sorry, 5 

the Trust’s submission also relies in a large part, on the evidence it 

called at the chapter 17 hearing – are you familiar with the evidence 

from Dr Dowden and Mr Rule in that hearing, have you read their 

evidence? 

 10 

MS CARTER:   Not in proposal 17, no. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You have read the chapter 18 expert conferencing statement, 

of course, where they agreed that the activities of the Trust are 

significant nationally and internationally? 15 

 

MS CARTER:   I have. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you understand that they breed highly threatened species, 

that help with species recovery in New Zealand? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 

 

MS LIMMER:   So from that perspective and based on Mr Camp’s answer that 

there may still be adverse effects on the Trust’s activities beyond two 25 

kilometres from fireworks.  You would agree that there would be a 

benefit in extending that setback further if there might be adverse 

effects, there would also be a benefit, would there not? 

 

MS CARTER:   There would be. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   And you would agree that in determining an appropriate level 

of regulation, a weighing up of the cost and benefits of any rule us 

essential? 

 35 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   You would agree also that a major sports facility, the viability 

of other of it is not going to be impacted on by a prescription of our 

fireworks activities is it? 40 

 

MS CARTER:   No. 

 

MS LIMMER:   I would like to turn to the issue of the one kilometre shooting 

range rule that Mr Camp has talked about also and it is quite clear on 45 

the merits the experts are agreed on that particular matter. 
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  [4.10 pm] 

 

 Now is it your understanding that most of the land that will be affected 

by the proposed rule is zoned by the Canterbury regional council? 5 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   The Canterbury regional council has been a submitter on this 

part of the plan. 10 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, it has. 

 

MS LIMMER:   And indeed it was referred to in your evidence, and so it has 

presumably met the evidence on its own submission, as well? 15 

 

MS CARTER:   I cannot guarantee that. 

 

MS LIMMER:   No, but as a person that has been involved in these types of 

processes you would expect that, would you not? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   I would have also expected comment from the provision that 

we actually put in for ECan but we have received none so I actually 

could not say whether they read it and then decided not to turn up, or 

whether they did not read it at all. 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   You would accept that Environment Canterbury has been 

actively involved in this District Plan process. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 30 

 

MS LIMMER:   It has a sophisticated team in its planning department dealing 

with these issues? 

 

MS CARTER:   It has a team. 35 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you. 

 

 Ms Carter, just turning to the discretionary rule that you propose, and it 

really follows some questions that Commissioner Neill has had earlier 40 

in the day; do you interpret that as affecting activities undertaken by, 

for example the Airport to manage bird strike risk? 

 

MS CARTER:   Can you repeat that please 

 45 

MS LIMMER:   Do you interpret the rule you have recommended as D2? 
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MS CARTER:   D2, that is the shooting one? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, the shooting range rule. 

 5 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Do you think that would affect activities undertaken by the 

airport, or any other person who might be undertaking shooting 

activities, as opposed to on a shooting range? 10 

 

MS CARTER:   My concern is the one kilometre whether that would affect the 

airport in terms of distance.  So whether this rule would be triggered by 

the activities that Mr Neill was talking about so that was something I 

was quite keen to find out, if the airport was within one kilometre. 15 

 

MS LIMMER:   You think the words “shooting range” would capture one off 

shooting events the by the airport? 

 

MS CARTER:   No, I do not.  It is do with the major sports facility or a minor 20 

sports facility, not a one off. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, and if need be that could be clarified with wording? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, it could.  We do not have a definition for a shooting 25 

range in the plan. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, those are all my questions, thank you, Ms Carter, thank 

you, sir. 

 30 

HLC:   Yes, thank you, Ms Limmer.  Ms Ellis? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS ELLIS [4.13 pm] 

 

MS ELLIS:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Ms Carter. 35 

 

MS CARTER:   Good afternoon. 

 

MS ELLIS:   At paragraph 6.10 of your evidence-in-chief you have identified 

objective 3.3.11 of the strategic directions as relevant to the open space 40 

proposal; that objectives refers to the expedited recovery of community 

facilities and colocation and shared use of facilities between different 

groups, does it not? 

 

MS CARTER:   Excuse me, which paragraph, 6.10. 45 
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MS ELLIS:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS ELLIS:   The Elmwood Club is proposing to develop a co-located shared 5 

use facility are they not? 

 

MS CARTER:   They are. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Policy 18.1.5E of the open space proposal seeks to recognise and 10 

provide opportunities for revitalisation of Christchurch after the 

earthquakes does it not? 

 

MS CARTER:   It does. 

 15 

MS ELLIS:   What the Elmwood Club are proposing to do is undertake a 

necessary rebuild as a result of the earthquakes are they not? 

 

MS CARTER:   They are. 

 20 

MS ELLIS:   Therefore would you accept at a high level that the proposal by 

the Elmwood Club is consistent with objective 3.3.11 and 18.1.5(e)? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 25 

MS ELLIS:   Now at paragraph 10.7 of your rebuttal evidence you quote 

Ms Himani (ph 4.48) Blair’s opinion in respect of how a consent 

maybe processed or the proposed facility? 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 30 

 

MS ELLIS:   Do you adopt Ms Blair’s opinion on that? 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 

 35 

  [4.15 pm] 

 

MS ELLIS:   So you would agree that the existing community group and after 

school care activities that already exist at the Club meet the definition 

of community facilities? 40 

 

MS CARTER:   I do. 

 

MS ELLIS:   But you do not consider that a sports club housed in the same 

facility meets that definition? 45 
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MS CARTER:   It does but it also meets the definition of a major sports facility 

which also has to be complied with in the plan.  So the definition is 

there, it is more specific and you would apply that, from a resource 

consenting point of view you would apply that definition. 

 5 

MS ELLIS:   And given those answers, would you accept it may be difficult for 

a layperson to determine whether a community facilities definition 

would apply or a major sports club facilities definition would apply? 

 

MS CARTER:   Someone using the plan has to comply with all the rules in the 10 

plan so I would expect them to go through all of the permitted activities 

to see which ones were relevant to their activities, particularly when 

you are looking at a multi-use activity on the site. 

 

MS ELLIS:   But given that a planner considers activities located at the site fall 15 

under both definitions, would you accept that to a layperson it may be 

difficult to determine which definition to use? 

 

MS CARTER:   To a layperson it may be. 

 20 

MS ELLIS:   And are you aware of the Crown’s submission to delete the 

privately owned LIM of the community facilities definition? 

 

MS CARTER:   If they have a submission I was not aware that they have got a 

submission in on that. 25 

 

MS ELLIS:   Right, well, say that they do and if the Panel were so minded - - - 

 

MR LAING:   Your Honour, if there are going to be questions about a 

submission that submission really should be brought up and the witness 30 

given the opportunity of looking at it. 

 

HLC:   Yes, the basis of your proposition, Ms Ellis, that the privately owned 

component is to be deleted? 

 35 

MS ELLIS:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   What is that founded on and is it the current situation? 

 

MS ELLIS:   It may be that it is not the current situation, sir. 40 

 

HLC:   And you have not been here for the developments that have taken place 

but perhaps Ms White might be able to help us here, can you or not? 

 

MS WHITE:   I need to check through the submissions table on that particular 45 

point. 
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HLC:   Yes, because if it is not part of the Crown’s proposal to delete it, unless 

I am wrong, it becomes academic then and it is not something that 

Ms Carter could answer. 

 5 

MS ELLIS:   So I might pose the question hypothetically. 

 

HLC:   Well, we will just see is Ms – all I want to understand is whether it is a 

live proposition or not.  I am not sure it is - - - 

 10 

MS CARTER:   Could I just clarify that there is another proposal, definitions 

proposal that is obviously not this hearing, but in a month or so there is 

going to be a definitions proposal and it may be that the submission has 

been linked to that proposal.   

 15 

 So it might not have been clearly in front of me for the Open Space 

proposal but someone may have and that is why I said I wasn’t aware 

of it - - - 

 

HLC:   Okay.  Well, in that case, so long as you are clear about the proposition 20 

that Ms Ellis is putting, which as I understand it is if you take out the 

privately owned component of the definition does your view still hold 

good but you might want to ask the question again, Ms Ellis. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Yes, so I should say hypothetically then, if the privately owned 25 

limb of the definition of community facility were to come out, would 

you consider the proposal could be considered a community facility? 

 

MS CARTER:   No, for the same reasons in my evidence that the resource 

consent planners will look at all of the rules and all of the listed 30 

activities and a major sports facility is the best fit for an indoor sports 

or bowling club.  So even if community facility was covering a lot of 

the activities on the site the fact that there is a more specific definition 

that more closely fits, what it is called in resource consenting grounds 

is the unbundling of what has been proposed, so they unbundle all the 35 

bits and pieces of an activity and put it to the – and it is to do with 

listed activity type plans, they put it to the closest activity that fits what 

has been proposed. 

 

 So they unbundle it, all the activities are looked at in their individual 40 

light and then they bundle it all back up again and say overall this 

activity or suite of activities has got this status. So the whole 

unbundling happens first and the plan is dissected for whichever range 

of activities fit in the closest.  And in this case an indoor bowling 

facility most closely fits a major sports facility. 45 
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  [4.20 pm] 

 

MS ELLIS:   Okay, thank you, and the open space community parks zone does 

not anticipate major sports facilities, does it? 

 5 

MS CARTER:   It does not. 

 

MS ELLIS:   But it does anticipate community facilities? 

 

MS CARTER:   Well, it does in terms of what we have actually proposed for 10 

Elmwood Club because we have put an exception in the policy 

framework for that particular site as part of the suite of rules so when 

you say the open space community park zone does not anticipate major 

sports facilities; it does not generally, but because of this proposal and 

its special characteristics, we have adopted or adjusted the policies for 15 

it. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Right, thank you.  So if I take you to that restricted discretionary 

rule package you have said that you do not support the rule applying to 

the access lot, is that correct? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   That is true. 

 

MS ELLIS:   And in attachment A to your evidence-in-chief at paragraph 30.56 

you have said that Elmwood’s submission to have a heritage listing on 25 

the access lot removed has been rejected? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS ELLIS:   But a decision on the extent of the heritage listing at 30 

Elmwood Park has not yet been made, has it? 

 

MS CARTER:   That was a recommendation by the officer, is what I am 

referring to there so no it is still before the Independent Hearings Panel. 

 35 

MS ELLIS:   In any case, would you accept that the heritage overlay merely 

triggers consenting requirements in accordance with the heritage 

chapter and it does not necessarily preclude the rule from applying to 

the access lot? 

 40 

MS CARTER:   It does not preclude it, no, but the rule is to do with the site 

and the site does not include the access. 

 

MS ELLIS:   Are you aware that the access lot provides the only access for the 

site? 45 
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MS CARTER:   I am aware. 

 

MS ELLIS:   And so any resource consents that are going to be needed for the 

proposal at the site are also going to be required for the use of the 

access strip? 5 

 

MS CARTER:   That is right. 

 

MS ELLIS:   In Mr Gow’s evidence he has proposed some amendments to 

your proposed rule package.  Have you responded to those amendments 10 

in your rebuttal? 

 

MS CARTER:   Not specifically.  I make a general comment. 

 

MS ELLIS:   And just finally, in terms of the built form standards; what would 15 

you estimate the existing distance between the neighbouring residential 

properties to be? 

 

MS CARTER:   I would have to see a map. 

 20 

MS ELLIS:   I might suggest to you that it is less than two metres currently.  

Are you aware of any complaints from the residential neighbours 

adjoining the existing building? 

 

MS CARTER:   I am not aware of any complaints, but then I might not get 25 

those complaints. 

 

MS ELLIS:   And lastly, in terms of site coverage, would you accept that a 

high yield development at the site alleviates the need for the member 

clubs of Elmwood to develop facilities on the actual Elmwood Park? 30 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MS ELLIS:   No further questions, thank you.   

 35 

HLC:   Thank you, Ms Ellis.   

 

MS WHITE:  I can provide an update on the deletion from the planners that are 

involved in the hearing and it is still being determined as to whether the 

Crown is going to pursue the deletion of the privately owned limb of 40 

the community activity definition and it was a stage 1 matter that the 

Council has not addressed, so we are still determining whether we are 

going to pursue it in stage 2 and stage 3. 

 

HLC:   And in any event, it involves a different Panel? 45 
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MS WHITE:   Yes, and the hearing will be on 22 March so it is still something 

that is being worked through. 

 

HLC:   Right, thanks very much, Ms White, and we have got the thrust of the 

question and answer so we do not need to pursue that any further so 5 

that completes cross-examination.  Re-examination? 

 

MR LAING:   No, sir. 

 

HLC:   Thank you very much. 10 

 

MS HURIA:   Nothing for me, thank you, sir. 

 

HLC:   Who would like to start? 

 15 

  [4.25 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   Permission to start, I think.  Thank you very much, Ms Carter, 

you have been a very busy person over the last few weeks and I would 

just like reiterate from the Panel’s point of view the hard work that has 20 

obviously gone in to resolve a lot of these issues so thank you for that, 

as a starting comment. 

 

MS CARTER:   Thank you. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   To look through today’s, today has evolved, I think we are 

down to quite a limited range of issues that have not been formally 

agreed, that would be a fair statement?  I will go through what I have 

got on my list. 

 30 

MS CARTER:   Okay. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Because I have really got some questions based around your 

rebuttal evidence and some of them are still live and some of them are 

not.  So if I just go through the list, starting with the Isaac Conservation 35 

Park. That, we are left with the two kilometre versus five kilometre 

separation distance for fireworks associated with major sports facilities. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   Is that the only issue outstanding? 

 

MS CARTER:   That, to my knowledge.  There is a very minor difference in 

opinion between Ms Seaton and myself as to whether it should be full 

discretionary or restricted discretionary and that is raised in evidence, 45 

but I have not heard any cross-examination on that today. 
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MR DAYSH:   Okay.  Your position is it should be? 

 

MS CARTER:   Full discretionary. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   Full discretionary, right.  So on this issue we have heard from 

Ms Limmer about some of the definitions and some of the wording.  I 

heard you say one of the definitions was missing something and needed 

to be updated. Was that around the major sports facilities, you admitted 

that there was something left out? 10 

 

MS CARTER:   Oh, it is to do with the Revised Proposal. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 15 

MS CARTER:   I have not updated the Revised Proposal to include the 

exception for motorised sport at the back of recreation facility. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay. 

 20 

MS CARTER:   Yes.  So that is in my evidence and it should be done. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So that should be done? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   So we will receive another Revised Proposal in due course, 

okay. You also had a question about the shooting range versus shooting 

definition. 

 30 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Did I understand that you thought that shooting should be 

added somehow or? 

 35 

MS CARTER:   No, just to clarify, I think that what Ms Limmer was trying to 

get across was whether I thought that a one shot should be captured by 

the rule or was it an activity such as a shooting range that the rules 

intend to capture, and I confirmed that it was a shooting range rather 

than a one-off shot. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you.  Just carrying on with the discussion about 

these issues, you say in your evidence that you prefer the 2 kilometre 

separation distance based on the evidence of Mr Camp. 

 45 

MS CARTER:   That is right. 
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MR DAYSH:   Have you also read the evidence of Mr Trevathan? 

 

MS CARTER:   I have. 

 5 

MR DAYSH:   He recommends five kilometres? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I read them both and have had discussions with Mr Camp 

in addition to reading those statements and we thought overall and I 

agree with Mr Camp that the five kilometres is such a long way away 10 

that with the startle effect, so I am not an expert in noise and I am not 

an expert in birds either, but whether that was too much and that two 

kilometres was more reasonable in terms of the noise effects.   

 

 That is where it comes from basically. I am not an expert in any of 15 

those things so if someone was able to say categorically that birds 

would be startled at up to five kilometres then I would agree. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But you did not prefer Mr Camp because he was a Council 

witness? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   Actually my own feeling was I sent an email to Mr Camp and 

said I thought that five kilometres seems an awful lot, what is your 

view?  So I already thought that myself, that five kilometres was 

excessive. 25 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   And that I would need to, as a planner, have a really good 

reason for putting that sort of limit on this rule. 30 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay. 

 

MS CARTER:   And I certainly would change my view if I had some more 

evidence to support it. 35 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, and we will get to talk to Mr Trevathan at some stage and 

I will put some of those questions to him so thank you for that. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   All right, so moving along, we have in terms of the major sort 

of issues left we have the Hands off Hagley position. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 45 

 



 Page 382 

  

Ch18: Open Space Commenced 17.02.16 

  [4.30 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   So I think you were here then that presentation was made and 

we were asking some questions about where you had got to.  So we 

received this morning this two page document, dated 17 February, with 5 

some suggested chapter 18 amendments. 

 

MS CARTER:   I have that here. 

 

MR DAYSH:   You have that.  So have you had an opportunity to read that and 10 

form some views? 

 

MS CARTER:   I have read it down to number 3.  So I have had a look at the 

first issues.  But I have not finished because I got interrupted to discuss 

with the Crown if we could try and get agreement with the Crown, and 15 

I thought that was quite important as well, so I am not finished. 

 

HLC:   Could we cover that perhaps on Monday? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 20 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, if you could fully look at that. 

 

MS CARTER:   I am happy to do that. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   And we will come back and have some follow up questions.  I 

think that would be fair. 

 

MS CARTER:   That would be great, thank you. 

 30 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, thank you. 

 

 Right, so can we now talk about the Elmwood Club situation – and I 

wonder if it would be helpful to pull up the plan that I have seen in the 

evidence which shows the special purpose zone school zone alongside 35 

the open space zones.  I think it is in, there is a picture in your 

evidence-in-chief I think? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, evidence-in-chief.   

 40 

HLC:   Page 40. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Page 40 of Ms Carter’s evidence, there is a diagram. 

 

 So I should say that I have had the benefit of sitting on that special 45 

purpose zone hearing, where the school, Heaton Intermediate School 
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area was discussed, and Ms Dixon was the Council’s planner in that 

case.   

 

 So I think just for the benefit of the Panel, and my position is that we 

have some evidence from Ms Dixon on the school part of the area that 5 

is proposed for the major sports facility by Elmwood Club.  And we 

have evidence from you, which is a blue area on the plan. 

 

MS CARTER:   So the school is the blue, and the pink is - - -  

 10 

MR DAYSH:   And the pinky area is the open space? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   That is right.  And the proposition from the club, although it is 15 

not exactly defined is that to develop that combined area as a combined 

major sports facility. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 20 

MR DAYSH: Yes. So we have received from Ms Dixon a 

statement of evidence, dated 20 January, in response to a minute that 

we put out before Christmas asking for some more clarification in how 

she would deal with the provisions.  So I presume you have read that? 

 25 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I discussed that with Ms Dixon, yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay, in the discussion you had with Mr Gow, was he the only 

one at that meeting on 18 January? 

 30 

MS CARTER:   No, Ms McLeod was there too. 

 

MR DAYSH:   She was there as well.  So at that meeting you discussed 

Ms Dixon’s position on the school zone? 

 35 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And your position on the open space zone? 

 

MS CARTER:   Open space, mm’hm. 40 

 

MR DAYSH:   In your opinion, should both provisions, in terms of how they 

sit in both chapters, line up pretty well exactly, or there are some 

reasons for some differences? 

 45 
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MS CARTER:   They should line up, in my view, and if they do not currently, 

then we have got some more work to do. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay. 

 5 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So just to put you out of your misery; I have checked back in 

Ms Dixon’s provisions, because we are considering that, in terms of the 

decision making on the special purpose school zone, and there are some 10 

differences. 

 

MS CARTER:   Right. 

 

MR DAYSH:   So I am wondering whether I should take you through those or 15 

just - - - 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   I am happy to do that. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Okay.  So I think in your latest version of the provisions, which 

we received today.  We are looking at RD13 on page 19 of that 25 

document.   

 

 So, just also for the transcript, Ms Dixon’s 23 January statement on the 

school purpose zone, she has got a set of tables which carry through the 

same aspects in her provisions and that is appended to her statement. 30 

 

 So the difference in this restricted discretionary rule relates to one of 

the assessment matters and in Ms Dixon’s version she has an (f) which 

is amenity of neighbourhood as a council’s discretion matter but that 

does not appear in your provision does it? 35 

 

  [4.35 pm] 

 

MS CARTER:   It does, is (e) exactly the same in Ms Dixon’s - - -  

 40 

MR DAYSH:   (e) in Ms Dixon’s is the same as your (e), she has an (f) which 

is an amenity of neighbourhood, so that should be the same? 

 

MS CARTER:   I think it should be the same. 

 45 
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MR DAYSH:   Yes, all right.  I think that is the major one, that carries through 

on - - -  

 

MS CARTER:   In terms of Ms Dixon’s (f); does she refer to a number, an 

assessment matter number? 5 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   That would be in her proposal? 

 10 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, and her proposal is RD(vi)(f) in the school zone. 

 

MS CARTER:   And so her assessment matter, we would have to refer to the 

one that is in her proposal. 

 15 

MR DAYSH:   I think to be consistent, if you are looking at setting up a 

resource consenting regime that covers two sites but the aim to have the 

plan consistent across zones, yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, we would find that in her - - -  20 

 

MR DAYSH:   I think I will not labour this point, I think it would be good if 

you could check on the consistency factor because if the Elmwood 

Club comes along to have a resource consent I think that would be very 

- - -  25 

 

MS CARTER:   We have an added matter here or one less matter here. 

 

MR DAYSH:   That is right, and that is another really details about the built 

form standards and things which I think are consistent but if you could 30 

double check, that would be good. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Just back to the Elmwood Club proposition; do you agree that 35 

ideally given the amount of information you have on the idea, do you 

think there is a good chance that they would fall to be a restricted 

discretionary with what you know of their proposal or do you think it is 

more likely that they would be considered as a full discretionary? 

 40 

MS CARTER:   I think it could be considered as a restricted discretionary 

particularly on what we know now and the idea of this is to make it a 

restricted discretionary activity if there was something that the 

Elmwood Club came forward with and said “well actually we want this 

as well” then we could deal with that and add it and if we needed an 45 

additional assessment matter to deal with that well then we could add it 



 Page 386 

  

Ch18: Open Space Commenced 17.02.16 

on, but the difficulty we have is that, I think I described it as a black 

box proposal in my evidence. 

 

 We do not really have all the details and you do not have to have all the 

details for a proposal but when you are doing a rezoning and you are 5 

providing specifically for an activity such as that then the more 

information you have got, the more you can deal with it rather than it 

dropping into discretionary and that giving the council that wider scope 

to look at things because they do not have all the information as to what 

the affects might be. 10 

 

 The more information you have the more we can tailor it but because 

we do not have a lot of information that is why we have left a couple of 

issues to restricted discretionary because as soon as it gets bigger than 

what we proposed here then there might be other affects that we have 15 

not taken into account in the assessment matters. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes, all right.  So, and your evidence to us is that you have 

provided for a restricted discretionary on the basis of everything you 

know on the anticipation that if that type of proposal is brought forward 20 

it would be treated as a restricted discretionary activity. 

 

MS CARTER:   That is right, on the understanding that we have now from the 

proposal. 

 25 

MR DAYSH:   Would that be notified under the plan, or would that be open 

for notification? 

 

MS CARTER:   I think it would be – It is really up to resource consents 

planner processing it to make that determination but my feeling is that 30 

it has a high chance of being notified, because of the site it is a 

reasonably – the site has lots of issues including traffic and at the 

moment including heritage.  There are various issues; there is various 

neighbours who may be interested. 

 35 

 So I think that putting a resource consent planner hat on for a moment 

rather than a policy planner hat, I would have thought that there is a 

strong chance that it would be publically notified. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Whether it was restricted or full discretionary? 40 

 

MS CARTER:   In either case. 
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  [4.40 pm] 

 

MR DAYSH:   So if the fine tuning of the provisions was to try and guarantee 

restricted discretionary and then non-notification instead of falling to 

full discretionary, that is, in your opinion, a moot point? 5 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I do not know if I could support that.  We would have to 

be sure that the issues were confined to issues that were within the 

realms of the Council to make decisions on without consultation and 

information from surrounding neighbours in the environment. 10 

 

 So I would be reasonably uncomfortable with putting a provision in 

that prevented it from being notified. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And that has not been asked for?  15 

 

MS CARTER:   That has not been asked for. 

 

MR DAYSH:   No, that’s right.  All right, moving along to the next one on my 

list; the Christchurch International Airport submission, we got some 20 

evidence from Mr Bonis about that - - - 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

MR DAYSH:   - - - and this is the noise contours.  You are suggesting that that 25 

be put – well, we do not make a decision and that we consider them at 

the proposal 6 hearing, is that your recommendation? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, it is, it is to do with whether rules that cover lots of zones 

should be in the general proposal or whether they be repeated 30 

throughout various zones, the same sort of provision.   

 

 So my general view is that if a general rule can deal with it, then it 

prevents duplication throughout the Plan of the same – so you go to the 

general rules and you see the rule based on zones rather than fishing 35 

through all the Plan. 

 

 So the contours basically cover a multitude of zones in the city. 

 

MR DAYSH:   And you are lucky enough to be on the hearing as well, so if it 40 

does get referred I will be looking at that.  Do you know if the Airport 

has agreed with that or have you had any discussions with them or we 

may hear from them? 
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MS CARTER:   We have had some discussions, I think Mr Bonis may clarify 

something when he gives his highlights package but I could not 

guarantee that, but he may do. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you.  All right, I think we are getting to the end of what 5 

is left on the table from me.  I did have some questions about the Fulton 

Hogan deferred zoning position, but I think I have got to the nub of 

where the difference is now.  I think that cross-examination answered 

all the questions for me so I will wait to hear from Mr Chrystal and ask 

him some questions on that one too. 10 

 

MS CARTER:   Thank you. 

 

MR DAYSH:   Thank you, that is all from me, sir. 

 15 

HLC:   Mr Neill? 

 

MR NEILL:   Yes, sir.  I will be brief Ms Carter. 

 

 Just with regard to Hands on Hagley, they have requested a separate 20 

zone.  You have indicated, both in your evidence and your rebuttal, that 

you do not support that.  Having heard them today, is there any change 

to your view or are you still of the same view? 

 

MS CARTER:   There is no change to my view but I still think if there is more 25 

issues that we can work through and add in some more provisions in 

the open space community park zone, that will assist and meet those 

submission, and I am quite happy to do that. 

 

 The main reason I do not support the zone, is that we did not notify the 30 

Plan with a zone and at the moment Hands off Hagley are very 

passionate about Hagley Park and that is obviously to their credit, but 

there is so many other organisations that use Hagley Park, it is not just 

precious to Hands off Hagley and with not having those other views, 

and I do not think we have provisions either and I do not feel that there 35 

has been enough consultation or input from those other organisations to 

put a zone in. 

 

 I recently put this to the review subcommittee of the Council to update 

them on what we were doing with the open space proposal here, and 40 

the councillors themselves had some support for a zone and the mayor, 

but they accepted that to do that it would require a consultation process 

for the community of Christchurch and that we did not notify a zone for 

people to comment on with provisions, and there was general 

acceptance too that peoples’ views on Hagley Park are very diverse, on 45 

what you can do with Hagley Park. 
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 So my view is that if we can deal with some of the major issues that 

Hands off Hagley are concerned with, that the open space community 

park zone does not deal well with, well then we would at least be better 

placed than where we started but we would not have the zone that 5 

Hands off Hagley seek, and that could be done at a later date if the 

Council was so persuaded, or the Panel themselves were persuaded 

perhaps in a new proposal. 

 

  [4.45 pm] 10 

 

MR NEILL:   So then my second question which in part you have answered, is 

that having regard to the rules of natural justice, it would be unwise for 

the Panel to consider imposing a new zone having regard to the fact 

that the relevant consultations and the provisional plan publications 15 

have not suggested so? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I would agree that there is a natural justice issue.  Also 

today Hands off Hagley submitted that there is a review of the Hagley 

Park management plan and that could be a significant review, given we 20 

are not in the post-earthquake environment and the Plan itself is dated 

2007, so while the Plan does not have rules, it only has objectives and 

policies, there could be a change in some of those objectives and 

policies through a consultative process in developing that new or 

revised Hagley management plan. 25 

 

 So in some respects we are dealing with an older document and a 

newer replacement District Plan but in the future we may be dealing 

with a settled Replacement District Plan and a newer Hagley Park 

management plan.  So to me that is something that should be taken into 30 

account. 

 

MR NEILL:   Now in your evidence-in-chief at the request of the Isaac Trust, 

you agreed to in addition to the definition of motorised sports facility, 

add in the words “motorbike racing tracks”. 35 

 

 The one thing – and I have been involved with the McLeans Island area 

– the one thing that might be missing and I am interested in your 

comment is the sort of thing that is most likely to occur out there in that 

area would be truck racing.  And can I ask, having put in motor cycle 40 

racing and car racing and go kart racing, should there be in fact the 

issue of truck racing? 

 

MS CARTER:   Could I just look at the definition because it might not exclude 

it?  It depends whether the list is exclusive or not.  If you just bear with 45 

me a moment. 
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MR NEILL:   Sure. 

 

MS CARTER:   In fact someone might beat me to getting it up on the screen.   

 5 

 So, yes, it says “includes but not limited to the following”.  So even 

though there is a list there – and for clarification I see no harm in 

adding it – If we have the relevant submission to do so, but because it 

says, “means the use of land, buildings or structures for motorised 

sports activity, includes but is not limited to the following”, I would 10 

have thought that you could include it. 

 

MR NEILL:   The reason for my concern to potentially include it is that in the 

area there are often fun days in what you would called the older 

transportation, particularly traction engines and the like, tractors, swap 15 

meets et cetera.  And from time to time there is what I would call drag 

racing between traction engines or old tractors and to me I would not 

wish that to be within that definition of racing. 

 

 So I suppose I am trying to ensure that the definition is as wide as 20 

possible so that those little things that happen from time to time, which 

I would not wish the fun police to oppose, can continue to happen? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, well looking at the definition at the moment it could be 

included in motorised sports facility, yes. 25 

 

MR NEILL:   The truck racing? 

 

MS CARTER:   The truck racing. 

 30 

MR NEILL:   Yes, yes.  But I would not wish other activities that happen as 

part of “fun days”, to be seen as being restricted as a result of the 

definition that is there. 

 

MS CARTER:   I would agree that you would not want it to be restricted. 35 

 

MR NEILL:   Yes, all right, sir, that is, thank you, that is me. 

 

HLC:   Ms Huria? 

 40 

  [4.50 pm] 

 

MS HURIA:   Just a very quick question thank you.  Ms Carter, you referred, 

back to Elmwood again. 

 45 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 
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MS HURIA:   That you don’t have a lot of information about it which you do 

need, and you refer to it again in your evidence-in-chief at 

paragraph 9.18, but for this sort of endeavour I guess my question 

relates to the pragmatic aspects of it.  So they probably wouldn’t want 5 

to be going and spending a lot of money if they didn’t have any chance 

of actually achieving what they want.   It is sort of the chicken and egg 

a little bit, isn’t it? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, my understanding is that they have a substantial 10 

insurance claim and so they do have funds and they also have a 

substantial membership so I think they are resourced.  That is not to say 

they will not have to do fundraising, I don’t know the details but, yes, I 

would have thought that they would be wanting as much certainty as 

possible for their development so that they know what needs to be 15 

considered to put together their application. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

HLC:   Thank you.  Just following Mr Neill’s point about the definition, I have 20 

a recollection that this statement of expectations requires us to produce 

a document that is effectively user friendly.  Is there any reason why 

you wouldn’t want to put in the words that Mr Neill has drawn 

attention to so that the public knows exactly what is not included? 

 25 

MS CARTER:   I think that some lists can be extremely long and that can be 

unhelpful as well but I think that when the list is not particularly long 

there is no reason for not including it for clarity, yes. 

 

HLC:   Fine.  The next point arises from the possibility of a separate zoning for 30 

Hagley Park and you have expressed process reservations about being 

able to implement that and that is no doubt something that we will hear 

submissions from counsel on.   

 

 But Hagley Park has been an issue before the public right from the 35 

word go, hasn’t it, from the notification of the first proposed 

replacement plan and so on?  What is it that you are worried about that 

people might have made submissions who in the event haven’t made 

submissions? 

 40 

MS CARTER:   My main concern is the lack of – how specific the submission 

is about the sorts of proposals or rules that were going to be requested 

by Hands off Hagley and whether that alerted the other communities 

using Hagley Park to the types of changes that could have occurred if a 

new zone was developed.   45 
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 The other point is that through the various meetings that we have had 

with Hands off Hagley, which there have been a number, each meeting 

we have got a little bit more closer to understanding what Hands off 

Hagley are seeking because at no time did they ever say, “Well, we like 

this rule, what do you think of that?”  And the process has always been 5 

to do with trying to understand what is in the head and then getting it 

down onto paper. 

 

 So my approach was to say, “Well, what about this rule, does that rule 

offend what you are trying to achieve?”  So using that process we have 10 

built up some exceptions for Hagley Park which are in the revised 

proposal.  But it has been a reasonably slow process to understand what 

it is that Hands off Hagley seek in terms of rules bearing in mind that 

the Hagley Park Management Plan has no rules, it has objectives and 

policies.   15 

 

 And if you have got time I could take you to the Hagley Park 

Management Plan and if you look at the example of section 17, it talks 

about buildings and structures.  And if you look at the objective 17 it 

says, “To keep to a minimum the number of new buildings and 20 

structures on Hagley Park and to coordinate and integrate the existing 

Park buildings and structures into the Park environment to protect 

historic buildings and structures within the Park”. 

 

  [4.55 pm] 25 

 

 Now, my interpretation of this objective is that we have done just that 

in both the open space community park zone for Hagley Park and 

enlisting various components of the trees and buildings in Hagley Park 

so my interpretation of that objective is that the District Plan is pretty 30 

much consistent with it. 

 

 Now, there are other issues in the policy that follows - - - 

 

HLC:   Can I approach it slightly differently then? – If it was the concept of 35 

having a separate zone or Hagley Park within the zone that is currently 

scheduled or currently proposed to be in, and if you simply carved out a 

separate zone for Hagley Park with the objectives, policies and rules for 

that particular zone just carved out of the existing proposal, is there any 

process issue there? 40 

 

MS CARTER:   Only in terms of duplication – so it is conceivable you could 

take the objectives and policies that were relevant to Hagley Park from 

the OCP zone and shift them sideways into a subzone and then in a way 

you could tidy up the Plan and take all the exceptions out of the OCP 45 

and then put them in this subzone.   
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 So, process-wise, we have already given those, so you could do it. 

 

HLC:   I understand your opposition to it but there is another side of the coin to 

the extent that the Hands off Hagley are saying in some ways it is an 5 

awful lot more user friendly to look at Hagley Park and know exactly 

what you can do in Hagley Park.  Now, could you comment on that? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, throughout this replacement District Plan we do have a 

lot of individual users for a particular facility saying, “Why can’t we 10 

have a zone of our own?” and the reason why it does not work is 

because there is a whole lot of general rules that apply.   

 

 For instance, in the General Proposal there are temporary activities and 

events with associated parking so that is already in a different place. 15 

 

HLC:   Which is applying across the board, yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   It is applying across the board and not that there is going to be 

subdivision in Hagley Park but again, that applies across the board and 20 

then there are other controls to do with noise that apply across the 

board. 

 

 So you would not end up with a one-stop shop as described by Hagley 

– that we heard this morning.  You would have another park zone and 25 

another open space type zone, Hagley Park, a bit like the one we have 

got for Agribusiness or for the stadium. 

 

 But conceptually, you could pull everything out that we have already 

given and do something there. 30 

 

HLC:   Okay, now, I just want to ask you a few questions arising from 

chapter 18, just a few little queries.  Some of them are pretty small and 

I just want to understand whether the issues I have picked up are things 

that could be fixed or not.   35 

 

 Have you got the, perhaps in the latest iteration, 18.1.6.  It is page 9 of 

the second to last, a very tiny point.  You have got after reference to 

deterring crime et cetera, Crime Prevention Through Environment 

Design, CPTED.  Now, what purpose is that serving, does it appear 40 

anywhere else? 

 

MS CARTER:   That is the abbreviation for Crime Prevention and 

Environmental Design. 

 45 
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HLC:   Yes, I know but why do we need it because I could not see reference to 

that anywhere else and it just seemed – but I might be wrong – perhaps 

it is somewhere else.  If it is nowhere else, it is not serving any purpose. 

 

MS CARTER:   Oh, you mean putting in brackets - - -  5 

 

HLC:   Just the letters. 

 

MS CARTER:   - - - as if you are using it.  Only in other proposals in the Plan; 

the Residential proposal. 10 

 

  [5.00 pm] 

 

HLC:   It could go in other parts? 

 15 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   Fair enough, that is fine, that answers that one.  Then over to page 12 

and again there may be an answer to this but I am looking at the 

activity status tables 18.2.2.1 permitted activities and (b), it says 20 

“activities may also be restricted discretionary, et cetera”.  Do you see 

where I am - - - 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 25 

HLC:   Now, to a layman reading that, they are looking at permitted activities.; 

is that not somewhat ambiguous because could it suggest to a layman 

you can have a permitted activity which might also be restricted 

discretionary et cetera, and what I am asking is whether it would be 

better to re-word it by deleting the words “activities may also be”, and 30 

simply saying restricted discretionary, discretionary, et cetera, activities 

can be found at rule so and so, that is what you are trying to say, is it 

not? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 35 

 

HLC:   Do you agree or am I seeing things that are not there? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I agree.  No, I do agree that you could write it the way 

you suggest. 40 

 

HLC:   It is just to avoid any possibility, and the same occurs at I have noted 

pages 42, 51, 63 and 85, but we do not need to go there, the same issue 

arises. 

 45 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 
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HLC:   And you will probably scream at this one but still on the same page, 

should there not be a colon after (b), to be consistent with the rest of the 

- - - 

 5 

MS CARTER:   A colon after (b) in 18.2.2.1? 

 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   After (b)? 10 

 

HLC:   It does not matter too much but it is again consistency throughout and it 

looks to me as though it should be. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, it should have a colon, yes. 15 

 

HLC:   And then if we go over the page and again there might be something 

underneath this that I have not picked up but if you look at ancillary 

office activity (a), it says “for all sites”, do you see that?  That is 

(p)(10). 20 

 

MS CARTER:   (p)(10), “for all sites”? 

 

HLC:   For all sites.  But then, you go down to (p)(10) and it says on all sites.  

Is it some subtle distinction because looking through, the reference is 25 

on all sites except for this reference to “for all sites”, is there some 

subtle distinction? 

 

MS CARTER:   No I think it should be consistent. 

 30 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I think it should be consistent there. 

 

HLC:   Okay.  Just a very small point at page 15 I think it is and the last 35 

component of (p)(15), there is reference in the activity specific 

standards to rules 7.2.3.  I presume that should be “rule”, should it not? 

 

MS CARTER:   Well what we have done - - - 

 40 

HLC:   Or should it not? 

 

MS CARTER:   With the Crown, the joint agreement with the Crown, they 

have requested and we have agreed to put rules in 7.2.3 there, as an 

amendment. 45 
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HLC:   Yes, fine. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   Okay.  And then from 18, I am on page 17, Ms Carter, from 18.2.2.3 5 

restricted discretionary activities, from about this point, the reference to 

if you look at (b), rule 18.7, the word “rule” is dropped out and from 

that point on there seem to be no reference to rule zones so whereas 

before it that was referred to. 

 10 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I agree we could put in the word “rule” there. 

 

HLC:   Page 22, I am looking at 18.2.3.2 minimum building setback, do you 

see that? 

 15 

MS CARTER:   From an internal boundary? 

 

  [5.05 pm] 

 

HLC:   Yes.  Now, that is the thing that has got me a bit puzzled.  The heading 20 

is minimum building setback from an internal boundary, but then when 

I turn over the page and look at matters of discretion the word 

“internal” is deleted in the right hand column. 

 

 So is it “setback from internal boundaries”, and if so what are they, or 25 

is it “setback from boundaries”? 

 

MS CARTER:   I think it is setback from boundaries, and when you look at the 

– it should be underlined, because when you look at the definition of 

boundaries, it includes an internal boundary. 30 

 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   so if you look at the - - -  

 35 

HLC:   So it should be boundaries? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   And so does that mean that in the heading it should just be “minimum 40 

building setback from a boundary”? 

 

MS CARTER:   No, the matters of discretion here are referring to a list that is 

at the back of Plan, and the heading on that one is setback from 

boundaries.  So those matters could be shared with other rules, like the 45 

setback rules. 
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HLC:   Okay, well that is fine, so long as that is what is intended. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 5 

HLC:   Onto page 26.  I am looking at table 1, Christchurch district, excluding 

Banks Peninsula.  And if you look at (a) and (b) for a start, it refers to 

less than 5000 square metres in area, “unless specified in (c) or (e)”, 

and then there is a dash-i below.  And I just cannot understand what the 

dash indicates.  Are you able to help? 10 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   Do you see what I am referring to? 

 15 

MS CARTER:   So, unless specified in (c) or (e), I - - - 

 

MR NEILL:   (INDISTINCT 2.16). 

 

MR LAING:   Is it (e) to (g)? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   (j). 

 

HLC:   Oh, I see. 

 25 

MS CARTER:   (j). 

 

MR LAING:   (INDISTINCT 2.24) did say that. 

 

HLC:   Yes, yes, that would, well that is obviously what it does mean, and I 30 

have been enlightened, but again a layman reading it, to make it clear - 

- - 

 

MS CARTER:   So it is (e) to (j) – (c) or (e), to (j). 

 35 

HLC:   Yes. 

 

MS CARTER:   So yes, I agree, it does not - - - 

 

HLC:   The word “to”. 40 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, the word “to” would be clearer. 

 

HLC:   I am sorry about these things, because they are all very minor, but we 

ought to try and get the best result we can. 45 
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MS CARTER:   I agree. 

 

HLC:   The rules relating to open space for metropolitan zone, page 28 on the 

second to last.  Are you on the most recent one are you? 

 5 

MR NEILL:   We are on 29. 

 

HLC:   29, Mr Neill says. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 10 

 

HLC:   In 18.3.1.2 it looks to me as though there should be a colon before the 

(a) and (b), is that right? – do you see what I am referring to? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 15 

 

HLC:   And similarly, 18.3.1.4 below, just another colon.   

 

MS CARTER:   So after below? 

 20 

HLC:   Yes, below, yes.  Just for consistency.  Do you agree or not? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, a colon after the word below.   

 

HLC:   Oh, and the same applies again at 18.3.2.1, before the activity table. 25 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, it is actually missing entirely. 

 

HLC:   And then to page 31 is mine, we are looking at (p)18.   

 30 

MR NEILL:   Page 32. 

 

HLC:   Page 32.  (p)18.  I just wanted to check whether roman (ii) in the right 

hand column should refer to “located on sites greater than 10,000 or a 

site”? 35 

 

MS CARTER:   A site. 

 

HLC:   A site. 

 40 

MS CARTER:   Yes.   
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  [5.10 pm] 

 

HLC:   Yes.  We are almost there and I am sorry, none of these are huge at all.  

The temporary Christchurch Stadium – I am looking at the rules 

relating to the temporary stadium, - - - 5 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   - - - 18.3.5 which is page 50 of the second to last part, 52.   

 10 

MS CARTER:   Are you sure it is 52? 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, 18.3.5 starts on the bottom of 52. 

 

HLC:   Yes, at the bottom of page 52 - - - 15 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, talking about the – yes. 

 

HLC:   It refers to the sunset effectively of 31 December 2027 unless permitted 

pursuant to the rules of the underlying open space zone or authorised 20 

by a resource consent, and as I read that, perhaps incorrectly, it would 

be possible for that time to be extended by a resource consent, but 

under B – and that might not be intended – but under B, it effectively 

says that the stadium will cease to operate on that date and it does not 

seem to allow for any possibility of extension. 25 

 

 It is something you might like to think about and there just seems to be 

the possibility of a contradiction, is it intended that come what may, 

31 December 2027, is it or is it intended to have a safety valve where 

there could be a resource consent to extend time. 30 

 

MS CARTER:  I can think on that because I know that a lot of this has been 

rolled over from the section 27 provisions that were inserted into the 

Operative Plan and then the date is something that has been extended. 

 35 

HLC:   Yes, but so long as it is clear in its meaning, I am not fussed personally 

one way or other. 

 

MS CARTER:  I will take it up and just be clear whether after that point in 

time a resource consent can be applied for. 40 

 

HLC:   Yes.   

 

MR DAYSH:  Sir, just looking at that, it is a question about whether B is 

actually needed at all today, A could stand alone. 45 
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HLC:   Yes, good point. 

 

MS HURIA:   Is it needed? 

 

HLC:   Question you need B, yes. 5 

 

MS CARTER:   Could I have a think about that and get back to you? 

 

HLC:   Yes, sure.  And the next one will be page 53 I think, and this is 18.3.5 

1.1 permitted activities and the table, and I am looking at P1. 10 

 

 The activity is sporting and non-sporting events not requiring the use of 

floodlights, but then the standards in the right hand column under C 

refer to lighting, do you see what I mean. 

 15 

 If they do not require lighting, is there any reason for C to appear in the 

standards? 

 

MS CARTER:  I probably need to take some advice about it but lighting and 

floodlighting - - - 20 

 

HLC:   Oh, I see, yes, there could be a distinction. 

 

MS CARTER:   So if the floodlight is not more than 100 lux, a floodlight 

might be considered. 25 

 

HLC:   Yes, if you could – I understand where you may be coming from.  And 

then just about there, the rules for open space natural which is 70 odd. 

 

MS CARTER:   Page 73? 30 

 

  [5.15 pm] 

 

HLC:   Yes, under 18.5.1.3 under E there is an advice note. 

 35 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   My question is if the reference whenever anything like this has 

occurred earlier it is a note, is this advice note something different? 

 40 

MS CARTER:   No, we do not need to have advice. 

 

HLC:   Okay, so that could come out? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 45 
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HLC:   Page 76, Ms Carter, P19, the scheduled activity CU2 I could not find. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, that is a reference unfortunately to the Operative Plan 

Cultural 2 zone by the looks of things. 

 5 

HLC:   But it is something that may or may need tidying. 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   They do not get any better, at the almost second to last or it is the last 10 

question, page it is 18.7.3, it is at the end of 18.7.3.7.  Do you see in red 

there is reference to the potential for the spread of wilding trees, 113? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I missed the change of zone. 

 15 

HLC:   Sorry. 

 

MS CARTER:   What page are you on. 

 

HLC:   112 is it? 20 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes. 

 

HLC:   This might be quite a silly question but I am going to ask it anyway, the 

words “wilding trees”, is that a recognised term in planning circles? 25 

 

MS CARTER:   I understand it is. 

 

HLC:   And so what would a layman make it? 

 30 

MS CARTER:   I understand it is I understand that it is trees that have self-

sown, that have not been planted. 

 

HLC:   If we were to make this document user friendly is there a better word 

for it? 35 

 

MS CARTER:   I can find out if there is one. 

 

HLC:   I will say no more, it is a standard word. 

 40 

MR DAYSH:   I have certainly heard of wilding pines is a pest, I have not 

heard it used in the wider wilding trees context. 

 

MS CARTER:   But wildings are basically self-sown plantings that are landing 

somewhere where they are not really wanted. 45 
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MR DAYSH:   North of the wall. 

 

MS CARTER:   The one along the river is willows. 

 

HLC:   So long as a layman would have a fair hunch to what it is about. 5 

 

MS HURIA:   Can I speak as a layman that for many years I though wilding 

pines were a type of pine that were just spreading everywhere and they 

were noxious, so I have some support for what you said. 

 10 

MS CARTER:   We can certainly look at that term.  I would be reluctant to 

replace it with something that was even more complicated but if we can 

find something that is more clear. 

 

HLC:   It is the user friendliness that might be worth considering, so you will 15 

be relieved to know that that is the end of my trail. 

 

MS CARTER:   Thank you very much for those comments. 

 

MR NEILL:   “Wilding conifers, also known as wilding pines, are an invasive 20 

trees in high country of New Zealand and there are millions of” et 

cetera, so it is sort of an accepted definition of it. 

 

MS CARTER:   I would not have thought that this was just referring to pines 

but Mr Neill indicated that it may be. 25 

 

HLC:   What are you looking at? 

 

MR NEILL:   I am on my favourite Google. 

 30 

MS CARTER:   I am happy to have a look at that. 

 

HLC:   Yes, it might be that it needs to stay as it is but just a thought. 

 

MR NEILL:   Yes, Queenstown Lakes District Council calls wilding trees, they 35 

refer to. 

 

MS CARTER:   I have definitely heard of wilding trees. 

 

MR LAING:  I have wilding conifers as well. 40 

 

  [5.20 pm] 

 

HLC:   Well, that completes my questions.  Mr Laing. 

 45 
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MR LAING:   If the Panel pleases, I have no further questions arising out of 

that.  I would just for my own purposes like some clarity around what 

you are seeking from Ms Carter in terms of Hands Off Hagley Park?  Is 

it redrafting or further commentary or is it something we just deal with 

in closing? 5 

 

HLC:   For my part, if you have got any - - - 

 

MR DAYSH:  Well, I think where we were at was Hands Off Hagley have 

tabled a new document with some suggested wording and it would be 10 

useful to hear back from Ms Carter about her views on that because I 

have got some questions of her about that so that is when Ms Carter is 

recalling the hot tub if that happens. 

 

MS CARTER:  Yes. 15 

 

MR DAYSH:   You could be re-sworn and answer some questions about that. 

 

HLC:   But I do not think we are expecting a separate zone to be redrafted. 

 20 

MR LAING:   I am very happy that we recall Ms Carter at some point before 

Monday night and because we now understand that the document we 

have got here is their latest proposal which is different from their 

submission which is different from their statement but that is fine so as 

long as we understand correctly that that is really addressing the 25 

drafting that they have there, not the rules or separate zone rules, then I 

think that is quite achievable. 

 

HLC:  And we are really after her views and if there is seen to be merit perhaps 

with a bit of tweaking what you would propose. 30 

 

MR LAING:   I think it is very doable on that basis. 

 

MR DAYSH:   But just to be clear I do also have some questions about your 

new rules, your exceptions and matters for discretion which I was 35 

going to carry on after this so, for example, I was going to ask you, if 

there was any merit or any other, anything that you have heard that 

means another round with Hands Off Hagley looking at their other 

issues they have raised with us today.  Would be useful not before, you 

know, we make our final decisions. 40 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, well, I always support having more conversations over 

matters like this. 
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MR DAYSH:   But it cannot go on forever so if we felt one more round would 

be useful as we have done on some of the other proposals and that gets 

reported back to us. 

 

MR LAING:  If it is more a question of drafting session then that is fine 5 

provided the parameters that are clear.  I think that would not present 

too much of a problem. 

 

HLC:   But if Ms Carter saw merit we certainly would not expect another 

iteration of the chapter.  You just tell us the specific rule that you 10 

would tidy up.  Would that satisfy you, Mr Daysh? 

 

MR DAYSH:   Yes. 

 

MR LAING:  If we are going to go down the route of another iteration 15 

involving Hands Off Hagley it is probably very important that takes 

place before we close and before we provide the ultimate revised 

version of the whole chapter but I think that can be accommodated in a 

reasonable timeframe. 

 20 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.23 pm] 

 

HLC:   Yes, well, that is fine.  I think we have reached the end of the business 

to be transacted.  No, we haven’t. 

 25 

MS LIMMER:  Sorry, sir, I will not detain you long.  I just wonder, I requested 

five minutes for my opening on the Fulton Hogan case not knowing the 

composition of the Panel and I realise most of the Panel has not heard 

from me on that matter yet and most of the evidence that is back in 

chapter 17 and I wonder particularly in relation to Mr Daysh’s question 30 

would it be helpful for me to take 10 minutes so I seek leave to do so 

and just give you a bit more of a picture about how it all – because it is 

complex, no doubt, there is a bit to it and it may just help orient the 

questioning of Mr Chrystal. 

 35 

HLC:   Are you all happy with that?  Yes, that is fine, Ms Limmer and it will 

be helpful to us. Thank you very much.  Right, good evening everyone. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 5.24 PM UNTIL 

FRIDAY, 19 FEBRUARY 2016 40 


